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Vision
“Our mission is to facilitate the development of 
empowered, strong, vibrant and sustainable regional 
communities, so they have a sense of purpose and 
control over their future.”

Mission
To promote and facilitate the economic, business and social 
development of regional Western Australia.

The DRD Way

The DRD Way is to be professional in 
everything we do, act with confidence 
and courage, connect with each other, our 
customers and the community, and show 
and value appreciation.
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To the Minister  
Hon Terry Redman MLA 
Minister for Regional Development

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial 
Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your information 
and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the 
Department of Regional Development for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2014. 

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with 
the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006. 

Paul Whyte 
A/Director General  
Department of Regional Development  
16 September 2014

Statement of compliance 
For the year ended 30 June 2014
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Overview of  
the agency
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I am pleased to present the 2013-14 Annual Report for the 
Department of Regional Development. 

Reflecting on the past 12 months highlights the opportunities 
and challenges we face as a department as our work to deliver 
on our key performance outcomes continues.

I would like to acknowledge the Regional Development 
Commissions, Regional Development Council, Western 
Australian Regional Development Trust, the Rural, Regional and 
Remote and Regional Women’s Network, as well as the local 
governments and government agencies that have contributed 
to the department’s accomplishments. The achievements 
highlighted in this year’s Annual Report would not have 
been possible without their support and I value our strong 
partnerships and collaborations.

In 2013-14 the department continued to administer the 
State Government’s $6.5 billion Royalties for Regions program. 
Over the past 12 months Royalties for Regions has funded 
more than 300 projects, which have provided new, upgraded 
and improved key infrastructure and provided essential 
services throughout the state, and contributed to economic, 
business and social development of the regions.

I am impressed with the outstanding impact Royalties for 
Regions is having in delivering major outcomes to regional 
Western Australia. Further detail regarding these initiatives is 
provided in this report’s Regional Investment Division section. 

One of the Royalties for Regions program’s major outcomes 
is to deliver improved social infrastructure in the key areas of 
regional health, education, skills training, natural resources 
management and Aboriginal participation initiatives. 

The department’s work continues to assist Western Australia’s 
regional communities to have a sense of purpose and control 
over building strong, vibrant and sustainable communities. 
I believe we have set strong foundations for the future as 
we work together with our partners to transform regional 
Western Australia.

Finally, I would like to thank the department’s employees and 
acknowledge the commitment of the former Director General 
Mr Paul Rosair and in particular his outstanding leadership. 
The department’s achievements for 2013-14 could not have 
been realised without their hard work and effort and I sincerely 
thank them for their contribution and dedication. As a team 
we have set strong foundations as we work together to drive 
change in regional Western Australia.

Paul Whyte 
A/Director General as of 18 August 2014 
Department of Regional Development  
16 September 2014

A Director General’s message
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Surfers Point – Art work at Rifle Butts
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The Department of Regional Development delivered on many 
successful initiatives and programs in 2013-14, all aimed at 
meeting the department’s core outcome, which is to increase 
regional communities’ capacity to develop economic growth 
and social wellbeing.

The department continued to administer the State 
Government’s Royalties for Regions program, which provides 
people in regional areas with new opportunities to help 
shape their own future and plan for long-term sustainable 
development. Royalties for Regions investment is channelled 
into projects that help build regional communities and all 
investment decisions are underpinned by six principles:

 � Building capacity in regional communities
 � Retaining benefits in regional communities
 � Improving services to regional communities
 � Attaining sustainability
 � Expanding opportunity 
 � Growing prosperity

Significant projects that were undertaken or completed in 
2013-14 as a result of Royalties for Regions funding included:

 � Ord East Kimberley expansion project
 � Albany and Nickol Bay Regional Hospital
 � Carnarvon Fascine Foreshore Redevelopment
 � Kalgoorlie Indigenous Visitor Hostel
 � Roebourne Development Projects – Shire of Roebourne
 � Karratha Waste Water Treatment Plant
 � Rural Generalist Pathways
 � Engaging Aboriginal Boys in Education in West Pilbara

The department collaborated with a range of stakeholders to 
deliver investment in community services and infrastructure 
projects across the nine regions through the distribution of the 
following funding:

 � $46.2 million through the Royalties for Regions Country 
Local Government Fund

 � $341.7 million through the Royalties for Regions Regional 
Community Services Fund

 � $735.5 million through the Royalties for Regions Regional 
Infrastructure and Headworks Fund

Executive Summary
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Responsibilities
DRD is responsible for:

 � Delivering the $6.5 billion Royalties for Regions program.
 � Ensuring that challenges and opportunities in 

regional Western Australia are addressed by clear and 
comprehensive legislation, policies and procedures.

DRD’s objectives and outcomes are delivered through the 
following five divisions:

 � Regional Investment
 � Policy and Planning
 � Economic Development and Diversification
 � Business and Social Development
 � Corporate and External Services

Changes to DRD in 2013-14
In November 2013 the Hon Terry Redman MLA was appointed 
Minister for Regional Development, taking on the responsibility 
of overseeing the Royalties for Regions program. 

The Department of Regional Development, fully funded by the 
Royalties for Regions program, has been restructured to reflect 
the objectives of the Royalties for Regions Act 2009. In addition 
to the Regional Investment, Policy and Planning, and Corporate 
and External Services Divisions, new divisions have been 
established to support Business and Social Development and 
Economic Development and Diversification. This will ensure 
that the department is working across government, industry 
and the community and particularly closely with the Regional 
Development Commissions, to support the social, business and 
economic development of our regions.

Operational Structure
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The Executive Directors of each division report to the 
Director General, who is accountable to the Minister for 
Regional Development, for the department’s activities and, 
through the Minister, to Parliament. Divisional managers 
make up the third level of management.

The Director General is responsible for:

 � Advising the Minister on portfolio issues, operating and 
financial performance, and any development that is likely 
to seriously affect the department’s operations

 � Setting, monitoring and reviewing the directions of DRD
 � Working collaboratively with other portfolio agencies and 

other stakeholders
 � Ensuring that the department’s objectives and goals 

are achieved
 � Monitoring the department’s performance
 � Adopting good governance practices in accordance 

with public sector requirements.

The Corporate Executive Group 
The Corporate Executive Group, which is comprised of the 
Director General and divisional executive directors, meets on 
a fortnightly basis. The group takes a leadership role in key 
planning and policy matters relating to corporate governance 
of the department including financial and human resource 
management issues, risk management, priority setting and 
performance monitoring.

The group also takes the lead role in progressing the 
department’s corporate values, ‘The DRD Way’ including:

 � Professionalism
 � Appreciation
 � Confidence
 � Courage
 � Connecting

The Western Australian Regional 
Development Trust 
The Western Australian Regional Development Trust (the Trust) 
is a statutory advisory body established under Part 3 section 11 
of the Royalties for Regions Act 2009 (the Act).

The work of the Trust is to advise on the way in which the 
department and the Minister for Regional Development 
develop and administer Royalties for Regions broader policy 
and projects. The Trust regularly visits the regions and consults 
widely with people and organisations concerned with regional 
development and Royalties for Regions projects.

The Trust meets on a bi-monthly basis and plays an important 
role in providing independent and impartial advice to the 
Minister on the allocation of monies between the subsidiary 
accounts of the Royalties for Regions Fund (the Fund), the 
expenditure of monies standing to the credit of the Fund 
and on any other matter relating to the operation of the Fund 
that is referred to it by the Minister.

Under the Act, the Trust tables an annual report to 
Parliament, which includes comments on the performance 
of the department with respect to Royalties for Regions 
administration. 

The Trust’s operation is supported by a full-time executive 
officer within the department’s Policy and Planning Division 
and also draws on the capability of the department to 
assist with its deliberations. Throughout 2013-14, DRD 
continued to provide the Trust with executive support 
including management of its governance, administrative 
and financial arrangements.

Reporting Structure
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The Regional Development 
Council 
The Regional Development Council (the Council) is established 
under Part 4 section 33 of the Regional Development 
Commissions Act 1993.

The function of the Council is to be the advisory body to 
the Minister for Regional Development on all regional 
development issues.

Generally, the Council meets six times a year with four of the 
meetings held in the regions. Membership of the Council 
comprises the chairpersons of the nine Regional Development 
Commissions (Commissions) and other persons appointed by 
the Minister. During the financial year, a Member of the Council 
has continued to act as the chairperson of the Council. 

The Council Strategy identifies the following five key strategy 
themes with objectives and priorities to focus its strategic 
direction for the next three years: 

 � Policy and Planning – that guides effort and resources; 
 � Investment – that is targeted, leveraged and effective; 
 � Engagement and Influence – that is purposeful, targeted 

and coordinated;

 � Knowledge Management – so that regional development 
intelligence is shared and utilised; and

 � Build and Enable – the regional development portfolio so 
that it is aligned and high performing.

The Council’s operation is supported by a dedicated secretariat, 
located in West Perth. 

Enabling Legislation 
The Department of Regional Development was established 
as a department on 1 July 2013 under the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994. 

Responsible Minister 
Hon Terry Redman MLA, Minister for Regional Development.
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The department’s Strategic Plan reflects our direction and the 
five strategic priorities guiding our work as we move forward 
and develop as an organisation. 

DRD Strategic Plan 

These priorities are: 

1. Facilitate economic development 

 � Support economic prosperity and social wellbeing through effective and innovative regional development 
 � Stimulate investment in regional locations to provide economic growth and diversity to benefit the community 
 � Encourage development and expansion of regionally based sustainable enterprise 
 � Encourage and participate in local, regional, State and Federal planning for regional development. 

2. Grow regional communities 

 � Develop strategies to encourage people to move to and stay in regional Western Australia 
 � Support local government in planning and implementing key projects and activities to build their communities. 

3. Improve community services 

 � Invest in appropriate services suitable to the diverse needs of regional communities 
 � Improve social infrastructure to enhance the quality of life for regional communities 
 � Encourage communities to develop their own unique sense of place.

 4. Foster local decision-making 

 � Encourage local decision-making for transformational improvement of services 
 � Build capacity in communities to plan and implement local projects 
 � Build regional leadership capability to ensure ongoing and future decision-making at the local level.

5. Strengthen our capability 

 � Build the capability and commitment of our people, and develop the support processes and systems to deliver our priorities 
 � Continue to improve our business and management practices.
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Organisation Chart

DIRECTOR GENERAL 
Paul Rosair

REGIONAL INVESTMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Andrew Mann

CORPORATE AND EXTERNAL 
SERVICES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
John Mercadante

BUSINESS AND SOCIAL 
DEVELOPMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Jenni Collard

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  
AND DIVERSIFICATION

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Peter Stubbs

POLICY AND PLANNING 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Michael Rowe

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN REGIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT TRUST CHAIR 

Sue Middleton

REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL 
ACTING CHAIR 

Hon Murray Criddle

RURAL, REMOTE AND REGIONAL 
WOMEN’S NETWORK WA CHAIR 

Leonie Noble

MINISTER FOR  
REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

Hon Terry Redman MLA
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Paul Rosair 
Director General  
1 July 2013-30 June 2014

Paul Rosair was appointed as 
the inaugural Director General 
of the Department of Regional 
Development (DRD) that 
was formed on 1 July 2013, 
to bring a new focus to 
regional Western Australia.

Prior to this, Paul was the Director General of the 
Department of Regional Development and Lands and 
was responsible for its establishment in 2009. 

DRD is responsible for the administration of the Royalties 
for Regions policy and programs and managing key 
development initiatives, such as the Ord Irrigation 
Expansion. The department advises Government on 
all regional development matters, such as on regional 
investment, economic development and diversification, 
and business and social development. It works closely 
with the Regional Development Council and Commission, 
the Western Australian Regional Development Trust and 
planning, agricultural, local government and other State 
and Federal government portfolios.

Senior officers

Mr Rosair was responsible for leading the State’s Royalties 
for Regions program, including whole-of-Government 
coordination. 

He commenced his career as a hydrographer in the Public 
Works Department and has also spent time as a qualified 
information technology professional. He has worked 
for well over three decades in senior government roles 
across environment, water, land management, aboriginal 
affairs, infrastructure, planning and natural resources 
management portfolios. 

He has worked in the regions and has a broad perspective on 
policy, investment and strategic issues important to developing 
regional Western Australia. Mr Rosair’s last day with the 
department was 1 July 2014. 

Andrew Mann 
A/Executive Director, 
Regional Investment 

Andrew Mann joined the 
Department as Infrastructure 
Manager in Regional Investment in 
July 2009 after taking a secondment 
from his position at Department 
of Commerce. Andrew has been 
acting as the Executive Director of 

Regional Investment since October 2013 and has responsibility 
for managing and administering the Royalties for Regions 
program in the Department. 

He has more than 24 years’ experience in the WA Public Sector 
across the areas of economic, industry and infrastructure 
development and investment attraction into Western 
Australian government projects. 

Andrew has also played a key role in leading the development 
and implementation of major State Government projects 
including the Australian Marine Complex Common User Facility 
in Henderson and more recently the Pilbara Cities Initiative, 
where he was the General Manager for the Pilbara Cities 
Office during 2012-13. 
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Mike Rowe  
Executive Director,  
Policy and Planning

Mike Rowe has worked in strategic 
policy development and delivery 
roles in the Western Australian public 
sector since 1993.

Mike’s experience spans many 
agencies including the Department 

of Agriculture, the Department of Environmental Protection, 
the Department of Water, the Department of Indigenous Affairs 
and the Department of the Premier and Cabinet.

Peter Stubbs  
A/ Executive Director, Economic 
Development and Diversification 

Peter Stubbs joined RDL in July 2009. 
Prior to this, he worked for nine years 
as Chief Executive Officer for the 
Shire of Wyndham East Kimberley 
and the Shire of Moora, and 15 years 
for the Department of Agriculture.

Peter’s environmental science and biology background, 
his experience in regional development and his personal 
connection with the Kimberley region led him to join 
the department.

Jenni Collard 
A/Executive Director, Business 
and Social Development 

Jenni joined DRD in 2013 as 
the Acting Executive Director of 
Business and Social Development. 
Before joining the department, Jenni 
was acting Chief Executive Officer for 
the Office of Children and Families for 
the Northern Territory government.

Jenni has more than 25 years’ experience working for 
numerous Western Australian state government agencies and 
was formerly the Director for the Office of Aboriginal Health 
Western Australia during 2011 to 2013.

Jenni has a Bachelor of Business and brings a wealth of 
experience in a diverse range of roles and portfolios including 
Aboriginal affairs, health, child protection and education.

John Mercadante  
Executive Director, Corporate and 
External Services 

John Mercadante was appointed 
Director of Corporate Services 
in June 2011, after joining RDL 
in 2009. He has more than 20 years’ 
experience in human resource 
management and corporate services 
roles across a range of State public 
sector organisations.

John is responsible for the department’s finances, human 
resources, organisational development, information 
management, communications, corporate governance 
and legal services.
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Administered legislation 
The Minister for Regional Development administers the 
following Acts: 

 � Royalties for Regions Act 2009
 � Regional Development Commissions Act 1993

Other key legislation impacting 
on the department’s activities 
In the performance of its functions, DRD complies with the 
following relevant written laws: 

 � A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 
(Commonwealth) 

 � Auditor General Act 2006 
 � Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 
 � Disability Services Act 1993 
 � Equal Opportunity Act 1984 
 � Financial Management Act 2006 
 � Freedom of Information Act 1992 
 � Industrial Relations Act 1979 
 � Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993 
 � Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 
 � Public Sector Management Act 1994 
 � Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 
 � State Records Act 2000 
 � State Supply Commission Act 1991 
 � Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981

Legislation 
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Outcome Based Management 
Framework 
DRD was formed on 1 July 2014 and the following 
outcome-based management framework was approved by 
the Department of Treasury in June 2014. The demerger of the 
former Department of Regional Development and Lands has 
resulted in the creation of two new and separate departments 
and as the split aligned directly with the previous RDL 
outcomes and department services the associated changes to 
DRD’s Outcome Based Management Framework was approved.

Performance Management Framework 

Government Goal: 
Greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure investment and economic development to improve the overall quality of life in 
remote and regional areas. 

Desired Outcome: Capacity of regional communities to develop economic growth and social wellbeing is increased.

Key effectiveness indicator: Client satisfaction with regional development services. 

Service One: Regional Investment Key efficiency indicators: 

1.  Average cost per funded initiative administered
2.   Average internal cost per satellite site supported.

Service Two: Regional policy Key efficiency indicators:

1.  Average cost per item of written advice requiring Minister’s attention.
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Development of Surfers Point Precinct 

The Surfers Point Precinct project at Prevelly near Margaret River in the South West has led to key infrastructure improvements, which are helping 
showcase the area as a world class surfing tourism destination. 

Funded through Royalties for Regions’ Regional Infrastructure 
and Headworks Fund (RIHF), Surfers Point is part of the 
broader Royalties for Regions Supertowns initiative. 
SuperTowns funding of $3.46 million was allocated to the 
project and $1.24 million in additional funding came from 
Country Local Government Fund (CLGF) and other sources 
including $1.24 million from Regional Development Australia, 
bringing the total project budget to more than $5 million. 
The Shire of Augusta-Margaret River managed the project. 

More than 10 years of concept planning preceded the project, 
which has delivered wide ranging infrastructure enhancements 
at Surfers Point, Riflebutts Reserve and the Margaret River 
rivermouth. Improvements include additional car parking, road 
upgrades, boardwalks, retaining walls, lawns and landscaping, 
viewing platforms, playground equipment, toilet blocks, 
barbecues and seating.

Major works were completed by April 2014 in time for the 
annual Drug Aware Margaret River Pro international surfing 
competition, a designated stage of the Association of 
Surfing Professionals World Championship Tour. 

Competition organisers, competitors, spectators and 
particularly tourism associations expressed appreciation 
for the improved infrastructure. 

The infrastructure improvements have helped market the 
region to an international audience. The Drug Aware Margaret 
River Pro is held over five days and is broadcast live across the 
world with images of Surfers Point and spin-off promotions of 
Margaret River attractions. The event also attracts an estimated 
30,000 visitors to the region and key Surf Pro event staff have 
suggested the event could now be run in the Prevelly area for 
many years to come.

New ablution blocks and fresh water showers are welcome 
features for surfers and swimmers, and improved disability 
access around Surfers Point has allowed people with 
disability to engage in the precinct’s activities and to 
enjoy watching the surfing.

“…it is inviting people to interact with 
the environment a lot more because of the 
pathways, the shelters, the barbecues and 
the other access ways.” 

As well as the development of a world class venue for the 
annual Drug Aware Margaret River Pro, the project’s benefits 
include improved visual and environmental aesthetics, better 
facilities for swimmers, surfers and spectators, benefits for local 
tourism, increased local business opportunities and positive 
relationships between proponent stakeholders. Where possible 
local contractors were engaged for the infrastructure upgrades.

Visitors have also expressed approval and appreciation of the 
public artwork located around the precinct. An art trail to 
promote the new public artwork at the surfing sites has been 
suggested and is under consideration. 

As well as the benefits of increased business from the 
Drug Aware Margaret River Pro and the associated influx of 
visitors from the event, opportunities have also been identified 
for pop-up food and coffee outlets and for bus tour operators 
to include visits to Surfers Point as part of their services. 
Surfers Point’s improved amenity is expected to generate 
further positive economic benefits well into the future.

 

Case Study
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Surf Pro viewing areaRiver mouth artwork

Rifle Butts reserve
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South West Recreational Fishing Enhancement Pilot Project 

In April 2014 the South West Recreational Fishing Enhancement Pilot Project saw the successful installation of two artificial reefs in Geographe Bay 
in the South West. The reefs comprise 30 reinforced concrete modules, each weighing 10 tonnes, placed in six clusters of five modules. One reef is 
located off the coast at Dunsborough and the other off Bunbury.

The modules were designed by Korean company Hae Joo, 
which has significant scientific and technological expertise in 
designing artificial reefs. The design took into consideration the 
local environment and the fish species the reefs aim to attract. 
The concrete modules were manufactured in Australind near 
Bunbury by pre-cast concrete manufacturer MJB Industries. 

Royalties for Regions funding of $1.86 million was provided 
to the project’s managing agency, the Department of 
Fisheries. Western Australia’s peak recreational fishing body 
Recfishwest contributed $520,000 from fishing licence fees 
and worked collaboratively with the Department of Fisheries 
throughout the project. The project is considered good value 
for money because of its long term benefits and little or no 
maintenance requirements.

One of the project’s most challenging component was the 
environmental approvals process, which was specifically 
required under the Commonwealth’s Environmental Protection 
(Sea Dumping) Act 1981. Prior to the reefs’ establishment, 
extensive underwater surveys and remote sensing were 
undertaken to gain an understanding of the environmental 
conditions, including local fish species. 

The approvals were granted once requirements were met 
and set out conditions for the reefs’ locations and mandated 
monitoring to be conducted over their lifetime. 

Extensive community consultation was conducted as part 
of planning and environmental approvals processes, with 
a committee established involving local stakeholders. 
Community consultation has been highlighted as one of 
the project’s most effective components because it ensured 
positive relationships between government agencies, peak 
bodies and the community.

In its first 12 months the project has already demonstrated a 
number of environmental and social outcomes. A variety of 
species, including snapper, samson fish, Spanish mackerel 
and silver trevally, have been seen and caught at the artificial 
reef sites and local recreational fishers have reported positive 
fishing experiences. 

The reefs also provide a safe and accessible fishing place 
for inexperienced fishers. Dunsborough’s artificial reef is 
located directly out from the Naturaliste Sea Rescue Group’s 
headquarters, which adds to the safety aspect. 

Benefits have been cited from a variety of users of the 
reef, with boat fishing, free diving and spearfishing all 
allowable activities.

The reefs’ tourism potential is expected to provide positive 
economic benefits into the future. Fishing tackle and bait 
retailers, local accommodation providers and food and 
beverage outlets are expected to benefit. Reef module 
manufacturer MJB Industries has also reported an increase 
in its expertise and knowledge, potentially providing 
opportunities to manufacture similar structures in the future.

There is growing interest for artificial reefs for tourism and 
environmental benefits at other locations around Western 
Australia’s almost 13,000 km of coastline. The South West 
Recreational Fishing Enhancement Pilot Project has enabled 
the Department of Fisheries to develop a new policy on 
habitat enhancement structures, which includes artificial reefs. 
The project has given the State Government, business and 
community stakeholders an ideal opportunity to improve 
knowledge and develop protocols for additional artificial 
reefs in other locations in the future. 

Case Study
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Ord-East Kimberley Expansion Project – Success Builds Success

The Ord-East Kimberley Expansion Project is a State Government flagship investment in key agricultural infrastructure to double the size of the 
Ord Irrigation Scheme Area to 29,000ha. This nationally significant agricultural project is aimed at showcasing the full potential of available land 
and water resources in the East Kimberley for private sector investment to supply agricultural produce for Australian and international markets.

In July 2013 the project took another leap forward when 
Kimberley Agricultural Investment Ltd (KAI), as the preferred 
proponent to develop 13,400ha of irrigated farmland 
(Ord Stage 2), commenced land clearing and development 
under a Land Administration Act 1997 Section 91 Licence. 
KAI cleared 1,600ha of land in 2013 and recommenced the 
land development program in April 2014 following the 
Kimberley wet season. Regrowth of natural Flinders Grass 
on some of the cleared land allowed KAI to harvest 400 tonne 
of hay in April 2014.

KAI proposes to invest up to $700million between 2012 and 
2018 to establish a sugar industry in Kununurra, to produce 
about four million tonnes per annum of cane and 500,000 
tonnes of export sugar crystal. Leading up to that goal KAI will 
grow a range of annual crops including sorghum and chia.

Some key features of KAI’s investment under the Ord-East 
Kimberley Expansion Project include the following:

 � A 50 year Crown lease (plus 25 year option) for 13,400ha 
of new land in the Ord Irrigation Scheme Area.

 � Building new farms and establishing processing sector 
for export markets.

 � Exceptional work with the local community and Traditional 
Owners for continuous employment options and new 
business opportunities to grow the East Kimberley 
regional economy.

The investment by Government to provide common user 
infrastructure in Ord Stage 2 leverages private sector 
funding and projects.

The Ord is a template for advancing other new agricultural 
precincts in Western Australia and recognises the need 
to attract external funding, be they corporate, foreign or 
otherwise. While attracting private sector investment is 
crucial, maintaining positive investor relations is just as 
important.

Case Study
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DRD works in partnership with the Regional Development 
Commissions and the Regional Development Council 
to maximise the overall benefits and impact of regional 
development portfolio effort.

DRD also works closely with a large number of government 
and non-government agencies to deliver programs 
and services. The department supports the State Government’s 
desired outcome of a greater focus on service delivery, 
infrastructure investment and economic development to 
improve the overall quality of life in remote and regional areas. 

The department is a proactive member of a number of 
key strategic Director General working groups addressing 
areas such as streamlining government approvals, 
State workforce needs, and Aboriginal affairs. 

Working closely with agencies that receive Royalties 
for Regions funding, DRD ensures the successful 
delivery of funded projects.

Shared responsibilities with other agencies 
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Agency 
performance 
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Regional Investment Division 
Overview 
The Regional Investment Division’s work is based on the 
central principles underpinning Royalties for Regions, 
which identify that: 

 � Strategic projects in regional Western Australia are 
a priority

 � Local decision-making in regional areas is fundamental
 � State Government department administration 

and processes should, provide for and, support 
decision-making in regional areas. 

In line with these principles, the division works closely with 
a wide range of organisations implementing Royalties for 
Regions initiatives. They include the State’s nine Regional 
Development Commissions, community, business and industry, 
non-government organisations, and other State Government 
departments and country local governments. These alliances 
help ensure there is a strong focus on supporting local 
decision making for regional expenditure, and increasing 
the capacity of country local governments and the Regional 
Development Commissions. 

Royalties for Regions is channeled into projects that help 
build regional communities and all decisions are underpinned 
by six principles:

 � Building capacity in regional communities
 � Retaining benefits in regional communities
 � Improving services to regional communities
 � Attaining sustainability
 � Expanding opportunity
 � Growing prosperity. 

Western Australian Regional Development 
Trust budget themes
The Western Australian Regional Development Trust provided 
the following Budget Themes for 2013-14 to assist the 
development of proposals:

 � Water
 � Human Capacity Building
 � Regional Land and Food Strategy and Planning
 � Investment in Regional Strategic Corridors
 � Retaining Aged Populations in the Country
 � Regional Business and Industry Innovation and Support
 � Energy Supplementation.

Funding Initiatives
Royalties for Regions operates under three funds:

 � The Country Local Government Fund (CLGF)
 � The Regional Community Services Fund
 � The Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Fund.

The Country Local Government Fund
CLGF supports local governments in the nine regions defined in 
the Regional Development Commissions Act 1993. An amount 
of $46.2 million was disbursed through the fund in 2013-14.

The Regional Community Services Fund
In 2013-14, $341.7 million was disbursed to support priority 
services that have shown their effectiveness in enhancing the 
quality of life for residents in regional areas, and improving 
access to government services and infrastructure. The fund 
aims to support investment in regional Western Australia and 
help leverage investment from other sources for projects that 
will contribute to the development of services in regional areas.

Report on operations
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The Regional Infrastructure and 
Headworks Fund
In 2013-14, $735.5 million was disbursed to support  
large-scale, strategic regional infrastructure and headworks 
projects acknowledged as being of strategic importance to 
Western Australia.

The fund aims to support strong investment in regional 
Western Australia, and help leverage investment from other 
sources for projects that will contribute to the development 
of regional infrastructure and headworks. It also supports 
planning for infrastructure at the regional level and encourages 
communities to develop infrastructure projects that benefit 
local organisations and communities. 

New Regional and State-wide Initiatives
In 2013-14, $43.7 million was disbursed to support new  
state-wide initiatives.

Royalties for Regions Funded Projects
In 2013-14, Royalties for Regions provided $1.17 billion 
towards projects and initiatives which have been listed 
individually under the following categories:

 � Country Local Government Fund
 � Aboriginal Initiatives
 � Agriculture, Food, Environment and Mining
 � Community, Culture
 � Economic Development
 � Education and Training
 � Health and Aged Care
 � Housing
 � Sport and Recreation
 � Tourism
 � Transport
 � Utilities, Power, Water and Communications.

More detailed information on these projects can be located in 
the Royalties for Regions Progress Report 2013-14.

Other Regional Development Initiatives
 � SuperTowns
 � Regional Development Commission – 

Regional Grants Scheme.

Country Local Government Fund

Overview
The Country Local Government Fund (CLGF) is one of 
three funds established under the Act. In December 2008, 
the Western Australian Government announced the 
commitment of $543 million over five years to assist 
country local governments build and maintain their 
community infrastructure.

CLGF supports local government in the nine regions defined in 
the Regional Development Commissions Act 1993. An amount 
of $46.2 million was made available through CLGF in 2013-14, 
including the following:

Regional Groups/Regional Development 
Commissions
A total of $40.0 million was allocated in 2013-14 to regional 
groups of country local governments in the nine regions, to 
invest in regionally significant infrastructure projects developed 
with the support of Regional Development Commissions. 
Provision of adequate business cases for each regional priority 
infrastructure project put forward was a prerequisite to access 
the regional component of CLGF in 2013-14. 

Over $46 million
funding disbursed for the Country Local 
Government Fund.

For more information on projects and achievements, 
visit the website for the Royalties for Regions 
Progress Report 2013-14
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Aboriginal Initiatives

Aboriginal community development related 
projects in 2013-14:
Department of the Attorney General

 � Aboriginal Justice Program – Driver Training and Education
 � Aboriginal Justice Program – Victims of Crime.

Department of Corrective Services
 � Kimberley and Pilbara Youth Justice Strategy.

Department of Education
 � Expansion of Clontarf Foundation Programs and Services.

Department of Housing 
 � Jigalong Essential Services Pilot
 � Improving Water Quality in remote Aboriginal 

Communities
 � Indigenous Visitor Hostels – Derby and Broome
 � Remote Area Essential Services Program.

Department of Regional Development
 � Aboriginal Community Critical Response Fund.

EON Foundation Inc. 
 � EON Thriving Communities Program.

Graham (Polly) Farmer Foundation Inc.
 � Regional Partnerships for Success in Indigenous Education.

Kimberley Development Commission
 � Kimberley Aboriginal Community Housing Extension
 � Halls Creek Extension to Aboriginal Housing Project – 

Stage 2
 � Kununurra Extension to Aboriginal Housing Project
 � Yawuru Home Ownership Scheme.

Shire of Derby/West Kimberley
 � Derby Aboriginal Hostel Expansion Project.

WA Country Health Service
 � Remote Indigenous Health Clinics.

Kimberley Land Council
 � KLC Purpose Built Facility.

Achievements 2013-14:

 � Expansion of Clontarf Foundation programs and services 
– eight regional academies supported in Derby, Karratha, 
Roebourne, Carnarvon, Northam, Katanning, Fitzroy 
Crossing and Mandurah (Coodanup). Ongoing mentoring 
and support has contributed to a 50% increase in boys 
achieving WACE or Cert II or higher in host schools 
since 2008. In excess of 480 Aboriginal students are 
currently enrolled.

 � Aboriginal Justice Program – enhanced Driver Training 
and Education for Regional and Remote Communities – 
eight pilot projects operational in: Broome, Kalgoorlie, 
Lombardina, Roebourne, Derby, Kununurra, Halls Creek and 
Fitzroy Crossing. Participation numbers are in excess of 470, 
far more than the anticipated annual target for the year.

 � Aboriginal Justice Program – Enhanced Services for Victims 
of Crime within Regional and Remote Communities – 
Eleven community education workshops held with more 
than 100 participants from remote communities in and 
around Derby and Halls Creek attending.

 � Improving Water Quality in remote Aboriginal 
Communities – Project which ensured infrastructure 
upgrades to electricity and water supplies in remote 
Aboriginal communities is on schedule for completion 
by 31 October 2014.

 � Indigenous Visitor Hostels – Derby and Broome – 
Official opening of new 54 bed facility offering Aboriginal 
visitors to Derby safe, secure living arrangements is 
scheduled for August 2014.

 � The EON Thriving Communities Program has expanded 
to include the Wangkatjunka (Kurungal); Warmun; 
Ngalapita (Koorabye); Woolah-Doon Doon; Kalumburu 
and Bidyadanga communities.
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Over $81 million
funding disbursed for Aboriginal 
Community Development projects.

Derby Indigenous Visitor Hostel construction
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Agriculture, Food, Environment and Mining

Agriculture, Food, Environment and 
Mining related projects in 2013-14: 
Department of Agriculture and Food

 � State Barrier Fence
 � Wild Dog Management Program
 � Royal Agricultural Show Concessions
 � Gascoyne FoodBowl Initiative.

Department of Regional Development
 � Living Lakes (Stage 1 and 2).

Departments of Parks and Wildlife / Fisheries
 � Marine Parks Management. 

Department of Parks and Wildlife
 � New Kimberley National Parks

Departments of Parks and Wildlife / Fisheries / 
the Premier and Cabinet

 � Great Kimberley Marine Park
 � Millstream Chichester National Park Eco Retreat.

Department of Mines and Petroleum
 � Exploration Incentive Scheme.

Mid West Development Commission
 � Yellow Tail Kingfish Grow-out Trial.

Wheatbelt Development Commission
 � Central Coast Agri-Industry Processing Hub –  

Stage 1: Site Identification.

Achievements 2013-14:

 � Exploration Incentive Scheme (EIS): 
 –  9 December 2013 – successful applicants to round 

8 of the EIS co-funded Exploration Drilling Program 
announced. $5.6 million offered for 46 drilling projects

 –  6 June 2014 – successful applicants to round 
9 announced, offering nearly $5 million to 
44 drilling projects. 

 � Living Lakes (Stage 1 and 2) – Following completion 
of a feasibility study, environmental report and benefit 
cost analysis, further enhancement options at Lake 
Ewlyamartup, Lake Towerrinning and Lake Yealering as part 
of stage 2, commenced.

 � Great Kimberley Marine Park – Marine Park planning and 
negotiation underway for establishment of the Horizon 
Falls and North Kimberley marine parks.

 � Central Coast Agri-Industry Processing Hub –  
Stage 1: Site Identification – a feasibility study is underway 
to find a viable location for an internationally competitive 
agri-food processing hub. The feasibility study will reinforce 
the future potential of the local agri-food sector with the 
possibility to value-add produce.

 � Gascoyne FoodBowl Initiative. $300 000 was released 
in November 2013 to support an emergency drilling 
program to ease water shortages in the Gascoyne 
occurring due to drought conditions. Preliminary 
planning and development of a draft Land Use/Capacity 
plan to cover future horticultural land capacity and 
use requirements for potential development in the 
Carnarvon Horticulture Precinct. 
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Over $65 million
funding disbursed for Agriculture, Food and 
Environmental related projects. 

Agriculture – Centre Pivot
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Community and Culture

Community and Culture Development related 
projects in 2013-14:
City of Greater Geraldton

 � Original Railway Building Restoration
 � Beresford Foreshore Coastal Projection & Enhancement
 � Building Better Regional Cities: Karloo to Wandina
 � Eastern Breakwater Precinct (now The Esplanade).

Department of the Attorney General
 � Kununurra Courthouse construction
 � Carnarvon Police and Justice Complex construction.

Department for Child Protection and Family Support
 � Responsible Parenting Services in Regional Western 

Australia. 

Department of Culture and the Arts
 � Performing Arts Regional Tours Boost.

Department of Corrective Services
 � Regional Work Camp Enhancement Program.

Department of Local Government and Communities
 � Regional Community Child Care Development Fund.

Department of Regional Development
 � Community Resource Network.

Gumala Aboriginal Corporation
 � Educational and Cultural Amphitheatre Vision.

The Roman Catholic Bishop of Geraldton / Centacare 
Family Services

 � Bidi Bidi Early Childhood Education Support Centre.

Department of Training and Workforce Development
 � Revitalisation of Goldfields Arts Centre – Stage One.

Department of the Premier and Cabinet
 � ANZAC Centenary – restorative works at 

Mt Clarence Albany.

LandCorp
 � Batavia Coast Marina Stage 2 Remediation Project.

Shire of Ashburton
 � Paraburdoo Childcare Centre.

Shire of Carnarvon
 � Carnarvon Fascine Revitalisation – Stage 5
 � Carnarvon Fascine Revitalisation Completion
 � Carnarvon Library and Art Gallery.

Shire of East Pilbara
 � Martumili Artists Infrastructure Project.

Shire of Exmouth
 � Ningaloo Centre – Stage 1.

Shire of Perenjori
 � Perenjori Early Childhood Centre.

Sun City Christian Centre
 � Blencowe Road Development Project.

Shire of Carnamah
 � Eneabba and Carnamah Town Centre Revitalisation.

Shire of Morawa
 � Morawa Town Centre Revitalisation.

Shire of Halls Creek
 � Halls Creek Community Arts, Crafts and Cultural Facility.
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Achievements 2013-14:

 � Regional Community Child Care Development Fund – 
operational and strategic grant programs continued, with a 
strong focus on professional development. In excess of 60 
operational grants awarded facilitating progress for services 
in meeting the National Quality Standard requirements.

 � Carnarvon Fascine Foreshore Redevelopment – Stage 5 – 
replacement of the fascine wall in to help mitigate against 
cyclonic storm and tidal surges in Carnarvon including a 
4 metre wide pedestrian path completed.

 � Carnarvon Regional Library and Art Gallery – opened 
in 2013 providing modern facilities for residents and 
visitors to the town and outreach services for the region. 
The new centre offers a library, meeting facilities, internet 
areas, storage, offices and a purpose built gallery for 
community use. 

 � Mt Clarence Infrastructure Works – the major upgrade of 
Mt Clarence was opened by the Premier on 16 May 2014. 
Existing infrastructure was replaced with durable, cost 
effective material and now includes rest areas, seating, 
pedestrian safe ways, increased parking, lighting and an 
improvement in ambience and disability access.

 � The Esplanade in Geraldton was officially opened by 
Premier Colin Barnett in April 2014. Formerly an isolated 
semi-industrial brownfield site with no amenity value, 
the redevelopment comprises a viewing tower with 360º 
views of the city, the port, Champion Bay and Seal Rocks. 

Over $183 million
funding disbursed for Community 
Development and Cultural related projects.

Carnarvon Regional Library and Art Gallery

 The Esplanade in Geraldton by Richard Rossiter
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Economic Development 

Economic Development related projects 
in 2013-14:
All nine Regional Development Commissions

 � Regional Investment Blueprints.

Department of Lands
 � Rangelands Reform Program.

Department of Commerce 
 � Regional Workers Incentives – Administration.

Department of Commerce / Small Business 
Development Corporation

 � Regional Buy Local Initiative.

Department of State Development
 � Ord East Kimberley Expansion Project.

Department of Planning
 � Northern Towns Development Fund.

Department of Agriculture and Food
 � Pilbara Hinterland Agricultural Development 

Initiative (PHADI).

Department of Regional Development 
 � Gascoyne Unit
 � Regional Grants Scheme 
 � Regional Workers Incentives – Regional Price Index
 � Pilbara Economic Diversification Framework
 � Goldfields Esperance Revitalisation.

Department of Regional Development / 
Mid West Development Commission

 � Mid West Unit.

Department of Regional Development / 
Pilbara Development Commission

 � Pilbara Cities Office.

Landgate
 � Location Information Strategy for Western 

Australia (WALIS)
 � Enhanced Valuation Services in the Pilbara.

LandCorp
 � Karratha City Centre Infrastructure Works Project –  

Stage 1 and 2
 � Karratha City of the North Project
 � Newman Town Centre Revitalisation – Stage 3
 � South Hedland Town Centre Revitalisation – Stage 2.

Shire of Carnarvon
 � Carnarvon Stage 2 Flood Mitigation Works.

Shire of Exmouth
 � Exmouth CBD Revitalisation and Foreshore – Stage 2.

Shire of Northampton
 � Northampton Light Industrial Area Precinct.

Shire of Ashburton
 � Tom Price Town Centre Revitalisation.

WA Police
 � WA Police Regional Police Incentives.

Regional Investment Blueprints are aspirational 
roadmaps for future social and economic growth and 
prosperity in regional Western Australia, developed 
by the region, for the region’s future.
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Achievements 2013-14:

 � North West Planning Program (funded through the 
Northern Towns Development Fund) – 80% of the 
23 sub projects funded under the Program are complete. 

 � Regional Investment Blueprints – Nine Regional 
Investment Blueprints finalised in readiness for public 
consultation phase.

 � Exmouth Town Centre and Foreshore Revitalisation – 
completed, including road alignments, underground 
power, improved parking and revitalisation of Federation 
Park and extensive works to protect the foreshore from 
tidal surges. 

 � Carnarvon Stage 2 Flood Mitigation Works – construction 
works completed in June 2014 for the 4 major levees on 
land located to the east of the town site and adjacent 

to the Lower Gascoyne River. This important project will 
provide significant social and economic benefits for the 
Carnarvon and Gascoyne community and is a critical pillar 
in achieving the State Government’s commitment to the 
growth and expansion of the Gascoyne Foodbowl.

 � The Regional Price Index 2013 was published.

Over $98 million
funding disbursed for Economic Development 
related projects.

Carnarvon Stage 2 Flood Mitigation Works – Nickol Bay Levee
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Education and Training

Education and Training related projects 
in 2013-14:
Country High Schools Hostels Authority

 � Esperance Residential College Upgrade / Stage Two
 � Merredin Residential College Upgrade / Stage Two
 � Geraldton Residential College Upgrade
 � Narrogin Residential College Upgrade.

Curtin University
 � Pilbara Education Partnership – Distributed Learning 

Program.

Department of Education
 � Boarding Away from Home Allowance
 � Foodbank WA School Breakfast Program
 � Pilbara Education Partnership – attraction and retention 

Pilbara teachers
 � Pilbara Education Partnership – E-Learning Pilbara 

Program
 � Regional Schools Plan:

 – Carnarvon Community College
 – Hedland Senior High School
 – Derby District High School
 – Broome Senior High School
 – Karratha Senior High School

 – Pinjarra Senior High School
 – Collie Senior High School
 – Narrogin Senior High School
 – Northam Senior High School
 – Katanning Senior High School
 – Denmark High School
 – Regional Schools Plan – Project Management.

 � Relocation of Year 7 Students: 
 – Broome Senior High School
 – Bunbury Senior High School
 – Cape Naturaliste College
 – Margaret River Senior High School
 – Australind Senior High School
 – Halls Head Community College
 – John Willcock College.

Department of Training and Workforce Development
 � Skills Training Initiative:

 – Agricola College Redevelopment
 –  Kimberley Training Institute – Broome Campus Trades 

Workshop Upgrade
 –  Kimberley Training Institute – Derby Campus Extension 

and Upgrade to Workshop Facilities
 –  Kimberley Training Institute – Halls Creek Campus 

Upgrade

 –  Pilbara Institute – South Hedland and Karratha 
Campuses Refurbishment

 –  Durack Institute of Technology – Centre for Health 
Industries and Training and Workforce Development

 –  Durack Institute of Technology – Resources Sector 
Workforce Training

 –  Great Southern Institute of Technology – Community 
Services and Health Science Block – Albany Campus

 –  Aboriginal Workforce Development Centres – Pilot 
Project

 –  State Training Providers – Information and 
Communication Technology Capital Infrastructure

 –  Skills Training Initiative – Project Management
 –  Muresk Institute Revitalisation Stage One
 –  Challenger Institute of Technology – Peel Health and 

Community Training Centre
 –  South West Institute of Technology – Expansion of 

Busselton Campus.
 –  Pilbara Education Partnership – Pilbara Institute – 

Allied Health Training Centre.

Geraldton Universities Centre 
 � Geraldton Universities Centre Stage 2 Building
 � Growing the Geraldton Universities Centre through 

to Sustainability.
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Public Sector Commission
 � Implementing Public Sector Regional Leadership training 

for regional public sector employees:
 – Element 1: Strategic Directions
 – Element 2: Integrity and Ethics
 – Element 3: Public Sector Reform
 – Element 4: Leadership Development
 – Element 5: Regional Employment
 – Element 6: Indigenous Employment.

State Library of Western Australia
 � Better Beginnings Early Literacy Program.

St Luke’s College
 � Pilbara Education Partnership – Pilbara Trade 

Training Centre
 � Pilbara Education Partnership – Performing Arts Centre.

Peel Chamber of Commerce and Industry
 � Business Education and Training Series Framework 

Tiers 1-3.

University of Western Australia
 � EdSim Centre at the Western Australia Centre for 

Rural Health.

Collie Senior High School – inside the Performing Arts Centre

Collie Senior High School – Performing Arts Centre
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Achievements 2013-14:

 � Regional Schools Plan – Performing Arts, Music and Media 
Centre; and additional staff area completed at Broome 
Senior High School.

 � Regional Schools Plan – Construction complete for 
replacement of Esperance Primary School including 
a new Administration block; Early Childhood block; 
Teaching blocks; Dental Therapy building and a covered 
assembly area.

 � Regional Schools Plan – Construction of a Technology and 
Enterprise Learning Area; Materials Technology Workshops 
and Studios and Food and Textiles Studios completed at 
Pinjarra Senior High School.

 � Regional Schools Plan – Extension and refurbishment of 
the Performing Arts Building, refurbishment of the existing 
administration facilities and change rooms completed at 
Collie Senior High School.

 � Regional Schools Plan – New Performing Arts, Music and 
Media Centre and upgrades to existing administration area 
completed at Narrogin Senior High School.

 � Regional Schools Plan – Construction of a new library/
resource centre, new materials technology building 
and upgrade to the existing science block completed 
at Denmark Senior High School.

 � Regional Schools Plan – Update / refurbishment and 
extension of school facilities, administration area and 
student services area completed at Katanning Senior 
High School.

 � Regional Schools Plan – Construction of an administration 
block, library and associated works to service the new 
Karratha Senior High School completed.

 � Regional Schools Plan – Construction of new educational 
facilities completed at Carnarvon Community College 
including an Early Childhood block with 3 pre-primary 
classrooms and 2 year 1 classrooms, a Teaching block 
with four general classrooms, Dental Therapy Centre 
and landscaping and car parking facilities.

 � Relocation of Year 7 Students:
 –  Broome Senior High School completed and officially 

opened June 2014 including construction of a new 
single classroom block and science laboratory

 –  Construction commenced at Australind Senior High 
School, Bunbury Senior High School, Cape Naturaliste 
College, Halls Head Community College, John Willcock 
College and Margaret River Senior High School.

 � Kimberley Trade Training Institute – Halls Creek Campus. 
Works on the outdoor art space and campus refurbishment 
reached completion.

 � South West Institute of Technology – Expansion of 
Busselton Campus completed.

 � Boarding Away From Home Allowance – more than 
1,400 families assisted over the period.

 � The EdSim Centre was officially opening in April 2014, 
adding to the existing services provided by the WA 
Centre for Rural Health in Geraldton, further supporting 
the up-skilling of the local health workforce and 
undergraduate students completing their placements 
in the Midwest and surrounding remote communities.

The Regional Schools Plan 2010-14 provides better 
educational opportunities for rural and remote 
students, by constructing new and refurbished 
facilities at 13 schools in regional Western Australia. 
Plan 2010-2014.
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Over $162 million
funding disbursed for Education and 
Training related projects. 

Karratha Senior High School – Main Assembly Area

 Karratha Senior High School – LibraryPinjarra Senior High School – Mechanical Workshop

Pinjarra Senior High School – Food Tech Room
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Health and Aged Care

Health and Aged Care related projects  
in 2013-14:
Albany Hospice Inc.

 � Albany Community Hospice, directly linked to the new 
Albany Health Campus by a secure passage providing ease 
of transfer of patients, and access for staff and materials 
between the hospice and the hospital.

Department of Agriculture and Food
 � Regional Men’s Health Initiative.

Department of Health
 � Pilbara Cities – Regional Health Administrative 

Accommodation.

Drug and Alcohol Office
 � Northwest Drug and Alcohol Support Program.

Dryandra Hostel Inc.
 � Expansion Dryandra Hostel – Aged Care Facility

 � Dryandra Residential and Community Care Expansion 
Stage 2.

Home Away From Home Incorporated
 � Regional Patient Accommodation Facility.

Moora Frail Aged Lodge Inc.
 � Moora Frail Aged Lodge Extension.

Pioneer Lodge Inc.
 � Pioneer Lodge Upgrades.

Shire of Northam
 � Killara Respite Centre.

Shire of Williams
 � Lakes 4WD Well-Aged Persons Housing.

Uniting Church Homes
 � Hillcrest Residential Aged Care Facility.

WA Country Health Service
 � Busselton Health Campus
 � Busselton Health Campus Information and 

Communication Technology Package
 � Carnarvon Health Campus Redevelopment
 � Derby Community Mental Health Refurbishment
 � Esperance Health Campus
 � Exmouth Multipurpose Service Redevelopment 

(Health Clinic)
 � Karratha Health Campus
 � Patient Assisted Travel Scheme
 � Pilbara Cardiovascular Screening Program
 � Pilbara Health Partnership
 � Royal Flying Doctors Service
 � Ambulance Services in Country Western Australia
 � Rural In Reach Program
 � Rural Generalist Pathway Program

 � Southern Inland Health Initiative (six components):
 – District Medical Workforce Investment Program
 –  District Hospital and Health Service Investment 

Program
 – Primary Health Care Demonstration Program
 –  Small Hospital and Nursing Post Refurbishment 

Program
 – Telehealth Investment Program
 – Renal Dialysis Service Expansion.

 � WACHS Staff Accommodation Transition Project.

Wheatbelt Development Commission
 � Creating Age-Friendly Communities in Small Towns.

Yaandina Family Centre Inc.
 � Yaandina Residential Aged Care.

Achievements 2013-14:

 � North West Drug and Alcohol – Construction of Dual 
Purpose Centre in Carnarvon and after hours Sobering 
Up Centre. The Centre is scheduled to officially open in 
October 2014 and will accommodate a Royalties for 
Regions funded after hours Sobering Up Service and a 
Community Drug Service Team which is funded by the 
Drug and Alcohol Office and will provide counselling, 
prevention and community development services during 
normal business hours.
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 � Derby Community Mental Health Refurbishment – 
A contribution towards the refurbishment of the vacant 
Derby Hospital Maternity Ward converting it into a fit-for-
purpose space accommodating the Derby Community 
Mental Health team enabling the provision of services 
to the Derby and Fitzroy River catchment populations. 
The facility should be available for operation by 
August 2014. 

 � Dryandra Hostel Inc. – In April 2014 a further $1 million 
in RfR funding was provided to assist with the construction 
costs associated with the Stage two of the expansion 
which is nearing completion. Stage two of the Dryandra 
Aged Care Hostel expansion will deliver an additional 21 
aged care accommodation rooms with 13 of these being 
dementia specific. It will also include refurbishment of 
older areas, landscaping and fencing. 

 � Busselton Health Campus – construction is scheduled for 
completion in November 2014.

 � Rural Generalist Pathways Program – In 2013-14 there has 
been an increase of 34.5 FTE junior doctors since 2009-10.

 � Hillcrest Residential Aged Care Facility – An additional 
20 bed wing at the Hillcrest Residential Care Facility in 
Geraldton was completed in September 2013. Uniting 
Church Homes advise that all 20 beds have been occupied 
since opening, with an additional 20 staff being employed.

Over $200 million
funding disbursed for Health and  
Aged Care related projects.

Inside Busselton Health Campus

Dryandra Hostel Inc

 � Killara Day Care and Respite Centre officially opened 
in December 2013. Two, eight bedroom buildings are 
now used for overnight respite care for the community 
of Northman and surrounds, with the day care facility 
also undergoing complete refurbishment. 
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Housing

Housing related projects in 2013-14:
Department of Housing

 � Delivering Affordable Housing for Key Workers in Regional 
Western Australia

 � Non-Government Organisation (NGO) Housing
 � Pilbara Cities Community – Pilbara Employment Related 

Accommodation – South Hedland
 � Capital Formation Framework Phase 2 Modelling
 � Hamilton Precinct Stage 1, South Hedland
 � Newman Service Worker Housing Stage 1.

LandCorp
 � Coral Bay Seasonal Workers Accommodation.

Access Housing
 � West Road Capel (Seniors Housing).

Shire of Yalgoo
 � Yalgoo Staff Housing: Weekes Street.

Achievements 2013-14:

 � Coral Bay Seasonal Workers Accommodation – 
construction completed June 2012. Opened in August 
2013 with the facility fully occupied.

 � Hedland 125 Service Worker Housing Intervention Package 
– all 125 houses delivered to Port Hedland to ease the 
shortage of service worker housing. Final houses delivered 
March 2014. 

 � Onslow Service Worker Housing Intervention – 12 units for 
affordable rental occupied.

 � Osprey Key Worker Village – 293 dwelling key worker 
lifestyle village. Completed April 2014. 

 � Pelago East Stage 2 – construction completed and Premier 
and Minister for Regional Development attended opening 
on 30 November 2013.

 � Access Housing West Road project was officially opened 
in August 2013. All 17, two bedroom villas have been 
tenanted providing low cost affordable housing for the 
local community in Capel. 

Over $13 million
funding disbursed for  
Housing related projects.

Great Southern Community Affordable Housing

Pilbara housing infrastructure
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Sport and Recreation

Sport and Recreation related projects  
in 2013-14:
ATLAS (Access to Leisure and Sport)

 � Atlas Leisure Buddy and Service Expansion. 

Department of Fisheries
 � South West Recreational Fishing Enhancement Pilot Project.

Department of Sport and Recreation
 � Hay Park South Regional Multi Sports Pavilion facility
 � Mandurah Aquatic and Recreation Centre Development
 � Regional Talent Development Network
 � Sounness Park Community Recreation Development
 � YMCA Swim for Life Program
 � Community Sporting and Recreation Facilities Fund
 � Supporting Community Sport – Athlete Travel 

Subsidy Scheme
 � Supporting Community Sport – Community Sporting 

Club Equipment Subsidy Scheme.

Racing and Wagering WA
 � Support for Racecourse Infrastructure Grants Program.

Shire of Yalgoo
 � Yalgoo Community Hub – Covered Sports Facility.

Shire of Morawa
 � Morawa Sports Ground Facilities Redevelopment.

Town of Port Hedland
 � South Hedland Bowling and Tennis Club.

Shire of East Pilbara
 � Newman Sporting Complex.

Shire of Shark Bay
 � Monkey Mia Jetty Replacement.

Achievements 2013-14:

 � South West Recreational Fishing Enhancement Pilot 
Project – Reefs installed off Bunbury and Quindalup. 
Monitoring surveys have documented more than 20 fish 
species including all target species on each of the artificial 
reefs within the past year. Prior to deployment less than 
10 species were documented at the artificial reef sites. 
The monitoring has also documented the colonisation 
of the modules in the first 12 months by a range of 
macroalgae, sponges, bryozoans and asscidians. Initiatives 
like this are not only important for the SouthWest region 
but will build research knowledge for other potential 
artificial reef projects around the state.

 � Shire of Yalgoo Community Hub – Covered Sport Facility – 
Facility officially opened in September 2013 as part of the 
Goo Fest community festival.

 � Support for Racecourse Infrastructure Grants Program – 
62 projects approved to date. 32 projects now completed.

 � In December 2013 the Shire of Morawa hosted the official 
opening of the Morawa Sports Ground Redevelopment 
project. The project provided an extension of the existing 
facility, new change rooms and a refurbishment of the 
function centre.

Morawa Sports Ground

Over $41 million
funding disbursed for Sport and 
Recreation related projects. 
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Tourism

Tourism related projects in 2013-14:
Carnarvon Heritage Group

 � Carnarvon One Mile Jetty Interpretive Centre.

Department of Parks and Wildlife / Tourism WA
 � Kimberley Science and Conservation Strategy.

Department of Parks and Wildlife
 � Conservation Parks Infrastructure and Roads.

Shire of Upper Gascoyne
 � Gascoyne Junction Town Centre Rebuilding and 

Revitalisation.

Tourism WA
 � Regional Events Program including Regional 

Events Scheme
 � Regional Tourism Marketing Program
 � WA Indigenous Tourism Operators Committee (WAITOC).

Tourism WA / Main Roads WA and Departments of 
Parks and Wildlife / Regional Development / Local 
Government and Communities

 � Caravan and Camping Action Plan / Parks for People.

Achievements 2013-14: 

 � Regional Events Program – 14 successful events were held 
in 2013-14.

 � Regional Events Scheme – 55 successful events were held 
in 2013-14.

 � Gascoyne Junction Town Centre Rebuilding and 
Revitalisation – opened for business in January 2014. 
Rebuilt after the devastating flood of 2010, residents and 
visitors to Gascoyne Junction once again have access to 
food, beverages, fuel, accommodation and caravan park 
facilities. The integrated retail, tourism and accommodation 
facility, including a new main street for the town centres 
is situated in an ideal location for visitors to the Kennedy 
Range and Mount Augustus National Parks. The facility 
will enhance the tourism industry, creating additional 
economic opportunities throughout the town and the 
wider Gascoyne region.

 � Carnarvon One Mile Jetty Interpretive Centre – opened for 
business in May 2014. The Centre is located at the head 
of the One Mile Jetty in the Carnarvon Heritage Precinct 
which currently attracts around 30,000 visitors per annum. 
This Centre adds a new dimension to the region, providing 
museum collection and work areas, exhibition spaces, 
a theatrette, retail sales areas, public rest rooms, office 
spaces and the One Mile Station Restaurant which boasts 
picturesque views of the Jetty. The new Centre and facilities 
are expected to boost visitation to the precinct. 

 � Caravan and Camping Action Plan / Parks for People 
– A consultation paper has been released for public 
comment on the caravan parks and camping grounds 
legislation. New legislation is being developed to replace 
the Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Act 1995. The aim 
is to provide legislation which better meets the needs of 
consumers, operators and regulating authorities, reduces 
red tape and safeguards the health and safety of everyone.

Over $37 million
funding disbursed for Tourism related projects.

Carnarvon One Mile Jetty Interpretive Centre

42



Transport

Transport related projects in 2013-14:
Broome Port Authority

 � Broome Wharf Extension of Life.

Bunbury Port Authority
 � Bunbury Inner Harbour Expansion – Preston River 

Realignment.

Department of Transport
 � Augusta Boat Harbour
 � Broome Small Boat Facility Stage 1
 � Country Age Pension Fuel Card
 � PortLink Inland Freight Corridor
 � Recreational Boating Facilities Scheme
 � Regional Airports Development Scheme.

Main Roads Western Australia 
 � Community Priority Road Infrastructure, Pilbara Cities:

 – Wallwork Road Bridge Project
 – Marble Bar Ripon Hills Road.

 � Goldfields Highway Upgrade
 � Wubin – Mullewa Road Upgrade
 � South Coast Highway – Ravensthorpe Heavy Vehicle Route
 � Brand Highway – Greenough River Bridge Replacement
 � New Road Alignment Study Dongara to Northampton.

Public Transport Authority 
 � Upgrade of Orange School Buses Initiative
 � Regional Town Bus Service – Bus Fleet Acquisition
 � Avon Train.

Shire of Mingenew
 � Depot Hill Road River Crossing.

Shire of Northampton
 � East Ogilvie Road Upgrade.

Shire of Murchison
 � Ballinyoo Bridge Replacement.

Project Officer Sue Buck with an Albany  
service provider’s sign accepting the fuel card

For more information on projects and achievements, 
visit the website for the Royalties for Regions 
Progress Report 2013-14
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Achievements 2013-14: 

 � Country Age Pension Fuel Card – 49,490 cards issued.
 � PortLink Inland Freight Corridor – Planning studies 

commenced to evaluate the economic benefits of creating 
a freight and logistics hub in Kalgoorlie.

 � Recreational Boating Facilities Scheme – Successful 
regional applicants announced for Rounds 16, 17 and 18. 
The majority of Round 16 projects are currently underway 
and projects announced as part of Rounds 17 and 18, 
underway. Four additional coastal facilities received a 
financial boost from the Scheme: Albany Waterfront Boat 
Harbour, Carnarvon Fascine Onshore Facilities, Coral Bay 
Boating Facility and Jurien Bay Boat Ramp.

 � Regional Airports Development Scheme – More than 
170 projects funded to date as part of this scheme. 

 � Augusta Boat Harbour – The Augusta Boat Harbour is 
on schedule for completion by the end of September 
2014 with the official opening planned for mid-late 
November 2014. The Department of Transport, in 
recognition of the strong community support and 
importance of safe harbour facilities, recently contributed 
funding for an additional 32 boat pens resulting in a total 
of 40 being available at completion.

 � The Shire of Mingenew officially opened the Depot Hill 
Road River Crossing in November 2013. The raising of the 
road surface has provided a safer and improved transport 
corridor from Mingenew to Geraldton.

Over $28 million
funding disbursed for Transport 
related projects.

Country Age Pension Fuel Card users
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Utilities, Power, Water and Communications 

Utilities, Power, Water and Communications 
related projects in 2013-14:
City of Greater Geraldton

 � Geraldton Regional Airport Landside Development – 
Essential Utilities Upgrade.

Department of Agriculture and Food
 � Natural Resource Management – Carbon Farming
 � Natural Resource Management – Storm Water Reuse
 � Natural Resource Management – Water Efficiency.

Department of Commerce
 � Regional Mobile Communications Project.

Departments of State Development / Lands
 � Bunbury to Albany Gas Pipeline.

Departments of Water / Agriculture and Food
 � Regional Economic Development Water Opportunities.

Department of Water
 � Collie Kemerton Water Management Strategy
 � Combined Pilbara Water Project – West Canning 

Basin Sandfire
 � Pilbara Water Opportunities – Ground Water 

Resource Appraisal
 � Regional Water Availability, Planning and Investigation.

Horizon Power
 � Murchison Radio-Astronomy Observatory Power Supply.

Pilbara Development Commission
 � Combined Pilbara Water Projects
 � Pilbara Water Opportunities Pilot Projects
 � Pilbara Underground Power Project.

Shire of Shark Bay
 � Monkey Mia Artesian Bore
 � Analogue to Digital TV Broadcast Facility Upgrade.

Water Corporation
 � Pilbara Essential Services Project
 � Relocation of Port Hedland Wastewater Treatment Plant
 � Karratha Water Recycling Scheme
 � Peel Recycled Water Scheme
 � Regions Infill Sewerage
 � Combined Pilbara Water Project – Fleetwood Searipple 

Village Wastewater.

WA Police and Departments of Fire and Emergency 
Services / Corrective Services 

 � Community Safety Network.

Wheatbelt Development Commission
 � Avon Water Re-Use.

Regional Mobile Communications Tower in Kondinin

The Regional Mobile Communications Project has 
improved critical mobile coverage across more than 
95,000sq. km in WA and Highway 1 now has almost 
continuous coverage, which is a boon for residents, 
tourists, truck drivers and anyone travelling in 
regional WA.
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Achievements 2013-14:

 � Regional Mobile Communications Project – As at 
June 2014 the RMCP was 89 per cent complete and 
on schedule for completion by December 2014. 
Commissioning of the 113th tower is expected to occur 
early September 2014.

 � Monkey Mia Artesian Bore – Construction of the artesian 
bore completed and the bore commissioned in 2013. 
The bore supplies water to residents and visitors in the 
Monkey Mia area of Shark Bay and is considered critical 
infrastructure. The bore has been designed to enable 
expansion in the area.

 � Avon Water Re-Use – the dam piping and pumping 
infrastructure works from the waste water treatment plant 
to the Northam Race Club are 90% complete and the 
racecourse dam filled with enough storm water to last 
until February 2014.

 � Analogue to Digital TV Rebroadcast Facility – With the 
switch from analogue to digital transmission signals, 
the Shire of Shark Bay needed to upgrade existing 
infrastructure to enable residents and visitors to 
Denham to have access to television. The upgrade of 
facilities was completed in 2013.

Over $163 million
funding disbursed for Utilities, Power, 
Water and Communications related projects.

RFR signage for the Regional Mobile Communications Tower in Kondinin
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Policy and Planning Division 

Overview 
The Department’s Policy and Planning Division provides advice 
and informs department, portfolio, and whole-of-Government 
policy development in relation to regional development. 
The Division does this through the delivery of effective 
government policy and support which includes to:

 � manage and contribute to the development, planning and 
implementation of research projects 

 � evaluate new and existing policies, programs and services 
impacting on regional development in Western Australia 

 � ensure alignment with key strategic directions and policy 
priorities, and the achievement of outcomes

 � provide executive support to advisory bodies – 
the Regional Development Council and the Western 
Australian Regional Development Trust.

The division assumes a leadership and coordination role on 
priority policy development, reform and advice, particularly 
in relation to matters with a cross-portfolio impact. 

The division collates, analyses, and provides advice on 
statistical data and information to support regional 
development and provides executive support to the 
Regional Development Council and the Western Australian 
Regional Development Trust. 

2013-14 Operations 

Regional Investment Blueprints
Regional Investment Blueprints are being prepared by each 
of the State’s nine Regional Development Commissions. 
The Blueprints are aspirational roadmaps for the future 
social and economic growth of the regions and form a core 
component of the regional development planning architecture.

DRD has supported the development of Blueprints through 
evaluation and advice on draft documents and advocacy with 
relevant State government agencies.

In November 2013, the Regional Development Council 
requested DRD to undertake an analysis across the nine 
Blueprints and prepare advice to help inform robust and 
strategic State-level regional development policy and 
decision-making going forward. DRD is working closely with 
Regional Development Commissions to undertake this task.

State Planning and Development Framework
The Policy and Planning Division supports the Interagency 
Group on Regional Policy, Planning, Development and Service 
Delivery Coordination. The group comprises the three Directors 
General of the Departments of: Regional Development; 
Planning; and Local Government and Communities. 
The Group meets as required and in 2013 jointly developed 
and released, the State Planning and Development Framework. 

The Framework articulates how the State Planning Strategy 
will align with local governments’ Strategic Community 
Plans and the Regional Development Commissions’ Regional 
Investment Blueprints. 

Developing Northern Australia
In close cooperation with the Department of the Premier and 
Cabinet, DRD coordinated the Western Australian Government 
submission to the Commonwealth Joint Select Committee on 
Northern Australia. DRD coordinated input from more than 
25 agencies to inform the final submission that was sent to 
the Committee in March 2014.

DRD is continuing to work with the Department of the 
Premier and Cabinet and other agencies to respond to 
the Commonwealth Government’s Green Paper on the 
development of Northern Australia. 

Transient Workforce Accommodation
The Department has been working with a number of other 
State government bodies agencies to consider a consistent and 
contemporary approach to transient workforce accommodation 
facilities throughout the State. This work has focussed 
predominantly on the Pilbara to date, but has the potential 
to consider the issue from a State-wide perspective.
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Regional Price Index
Released in December 2013, the 2013 Regional Price Index 
(RPI) compares the cost of 500 common goods and services 
across 28 regional locations and six metropolitan locations 
in Perth. The most comprehensive index of its type, the RPI is 
used as a component in the calculation of District Allowance 
rates for regional public servants.

The 2013 RPI revealed significant reductions in cost of living 
pressures across a number of regional areas – most notably 
in northern Western Australia. 

Living in the Regions 2013 survey
Released in January 2014, the Living in the Regions Statewide 
Report details the results from the Living in the Regions 2013 
survey. The Living in the Regions survey measured community 
perceptions and experiences of life in regional Western 
Australia. Receiving over 10,000 responses and through 
21 discussion groups the survey provides a valuable 
insight into the:

 � Factors that attract people to regional locations
 � Factors that assist in retaining people in regional locations
 � ‘Sense of wellbeing’ factors that influence the choice of 

place to live. 

A further series of nine regional reports and a report 
specifically on the views of retirees are being prepared and 
should be available in the second half of 2014. Data from the 
Living in the Regions survey will also be available through 
the DRD website in the second half of 2014.

Living in the Regions – Metropolitan View 
The Living in the Regions 2013 survey included the views of a 
small sample of 270 metropolitan respondents. To expand on 
the understanding of the view of metropolitan resident’s on 
regional Western Australia, a more comprehensive survey of 
over 3,000 respondents was conducted in June 2014.

It is expected that this information will assist agencies 
looking to recruit and retain their regional workforce, and in 
turn aim to encourage people to live and work in regional 
Western Australia. The results from this survey will be 
reported later in 2014.

Business in the Regions Survey
The Business in the Regions 2014 survey, run in June and 
July 2014, asked regional business owners and managers 
to share their views on doing business in regional Western 
Australia. The survey builds on the success of the Living in the 
Regions 2013 Survey.

At present, comprehensive, up-to-date information on regional 
businesses is scarce, as is information on the characteristics and 
experiences of the owners and managers of these businesses. 
The survey results will significantly enhance the government’s 
understanding of businesses in the regions, and support the 
provision of effective, targeted assistance to businesses and 
business owners across the state. In particular, the results will 
underpin decisions on funding priorities for the Royalties for 
Regions program.

The Business in the Regions 2014 Survey results will be 
presented in a comprehensive state wide report, which will 
be available on the DRD website in late 2014. 

48



Economic Development and 
Diversification Division 

Overview 
The Economic Development and Diversification Division was 
created with in DRD in the early 2013-14 year, its primary 
focus is to discover and evaluate new and existing business 
opportunities that diversify the State’s economy while 
delivering strong regional benefits. Other core functions 
include project management and facilitation services. 
Since its inception the Division has investigated a range of new 
initiatives in the agricultural, trade and technology sectors. 

2013-14 Operations 

Ord-East Kimberley Expansion Project
The Ord-East Kimberley Expansion Project is a major State 
initiative that is managed by the division that comprises both 
State and Commonwealth Government funding. The project 
will see the Ord River irrigation area increase from 14,000 to 
at least 29,000ha, and lay the foundations for future economic 
growth in both the East Kimberley region and Northern 
Australia generally. 

The investment has two investment components: 

1.  Ord Irrigation Expansion Project – $322 million 
investment to develop and deliver agricultural land and 
support infrastructure, including off-farm water supply, 
drainage and roads. 

2.  East Kimberley Development Package – $195 million 
of partnering Australian Government investment on 
27 projects via a National Partnership Agreement to assist 
in address social and economic disadvantage within 
the Aboriginal population and the current deficiencies 
in the available social, community and common-use 
infrastructure in the East-Kimberley. These projects were 
commenced in 2009-10, and were completed this year.

Construction of 41km of new roads, 86km of drains, 40km of 
irrigation channel and associated irrigation control structures 
commenced in 2010 and was substantially completed this year 
($301 million). The 2013-14 wet season was one of largest 
on record in the Ord Valley, so the new infrastructure was fully 
tested, and it held up well.

Works in the 2014-15 year will include replacement and 
or lining of non-compliant pipes, and disposal of the 
Garrjang Workers Village created to accommodate the 
construction workforce. 

Development of New Ord Lands
Kimberley Agricultural Investment Ltd (KAI) was selected 
as the proponent to develop 13,400 hectares of new farm 
land known as Ord Stage 2, by the State Government after 
an extensive Request for Proposal and due diligence process. 
KAI commenced clearing and development of the new farm 
land on 5 July 2013 under an early access licence, to make 
best use of the limited dry season construction period in 
the Kimberley. Approximately 1,600 hectares of land was 
cleared in 2013.

The State Government signed a Development Agreement 
with KAI on 6 December 2014 to set the framework for the 
KAI development, which will see in the order of $700 million 
invested over the next five to six years. In 2014 (March) 
KAI lodged its Referral under the Environmental Biodiversity 
and Conservation Act 2000 to the Australian Government 
for development of the Knox Plain land which is part of the 
Development Agreement it has with the State.
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KAI aim to clear all of the Goomig land (6,800ha) 
in 2014 and be ready to crop 2,450ha in 2015. 

KAI employed 19 local people in 2013 and a 
number of other local contractors. In 2014 
the KAI workforce was 40 local people. 

KAI salvages timber from the clearing 
operations for export back to China for 
furniture production. 

KAI is part of the Shanghai Zhongfu Group, and 
a related company in this Group acquired the 
Kununurra Country Club Resort during the year.

 

Maintaining a good and productive relationship with the 
investors, traditional owners, and industry is a necessity to 
release further lands into the market. Further land releases of 
up to 6,000 hectares in and around Kununurra is also being 
planned for late 2014 as well as other lands identified through 
the Ord Final Agreement. 

The Department also continues to work with the Northern 
Territory Government, where potentially a further 14,000 
hectares needs to be developed to build the required critical 
mass for industry.

Aboriginal Engagement / Employment
Improving the social circumstance of the Traditional Owners, 
the Yawoorroong Miriuwung Gajerrong Yirrgeb Noong Dawang 
Aboriginal Corporation (MG Corporation) was a key objective 
of the Government and Department. The project achieved an 
impressive average of more than 20% Aboriginal employment 
while supporting new and established businesses throughout 
the journey. 

To capture these milestones and celebrate the project’s 
conclusion a commemorative certificate was produced by the 
project partners. 
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New Agricultural Precinct Developments
In the Kimberley and Pilbara regions, opportunities for 
economic growth and diversification based on natural 
resources to support new agriculture precincts will be 
progressed. Commercial scale new precincts (15,000 hectares) 
are possible. 

Due diligence is occurring to further understand the soil 
and water resources and potentially commercialise such 
opportunities at scale which will have a profound impact in 
transforming the surrounding regional centres and further 
support economic diversification. The Division is also working 
closely with its agency partners to explore more flexible and 
attractive tenure options on pastoral leases to encourage more 
third party investment in to the agricultural sector.

Seizing the Opportunity Agriculture
The State Government is seeking to invest $300 million from 
Royalties for Regions to the Seizing the Opportunity Agriculture 
initiative over the next few years. The Western Australian 
agriculture and food sector is facing unprecedented export 
opportunities but also challenges to growth. This initiative will 
support the removal of the barriers to the agri-food industry 
in order to capture opportunities in emerging markets and 
broaden regional and the state economies.

The Department has a lead role in implementing the initiative 
and will coordinate investment activities across government.

Under this initiative the Department has the responsibility 
for development and implementation of two programs – 
an Infrastructure Audit and Investment Fund ($77 million) 
and WA Open for Business ($20 million). The Department is 
coordinating with the Departments of Water; Agriculture and 
Food (DAFWA); and Workforce and Training Development to 
deliver the remaining 12 programs.

Infrastructure Audit and Investment Fund
This program will commence with a state-wide infrastructure 
audit to identify and document infrastructure supply chain 
constraints, due to infrastructure gaps and inefficiencies, 
which restrict the expansion and diversification of the 
Western Australian agri-food industry. The audit will 
inform the infrastructure priorities for funding under the 
Infrastructure Investment Fund.

The Infrastructure Investment Fund will support infrastructure 
projects that improve productivity, transport efficiency 
and other infrastructure constraints to the expansion of the 
agri-food industry. Funded projects will be major, strategic 
economic projects and could include multi-use port facilities, 
key road and rail networks upgrades, airports, energy, 
telecommunications, water and other critical infrastructure 
required to address constraints or gaps in the supply chain.

The project has been developed by the Department, in 
consultation with other key stakeholders in regions and 
the food and fibre industry sector. The infrastructure audits 
expected to commence in the first quarter of 2014-15.

Open for Business
The $20 million WA Open for Business project is a component 
of the Seizing the Opportunity Agriculture initiative. WA Open 
for Business will enhance the promotion of opportunities in 
Western Australian agriculture, while building on existing 
investment and trade mechanisms. The project will focus on 
attracting private sector investment in Western Australian, 
especially in agri-food and related industries. Delivery of WA 
Open for Business is under development in partnership with 
industry and is expected to program to commence in the first 
quarter of 2014-15.
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Other New Initiatives 

South West Creative Industry
The Department is working with ScreenWest and the South 
West Development Commission (SWDC) to undertake an 
infrastructure needs assessment in relation to developing 
an animation hub in Bunbury, and potential wider creative 
industries in the South West. This can build on the current 
animation links the South West has to China to further 
develop a hub that may enable common-use infrastructure 
such as access to support technology or education and 
training facilities.

Margaret River Gourmet Escape Trade 
and Investment
The Department is working with TourismWA (Eventscorp), 
DAFWA and SWDC to explore the trade and investment 
opportunities connected to the Margaret River Gourmet 
Escape event. 

Pilbara Hinterland Agriculture Development 
Initiative (PHADI)
The Department is supporting the DAFWA-led PHADI program, 
in partnership with the Pilbara Development Commissions. 
The PHADI is trialling irrigation systems in the Pilbara that 
will look to utilise surplus mine dewater to grow food, cattle 
fodder and biofuel. The PHADI will establish two pilot projects 
growing irrigated crops.

Sorghum will be grown at Woodie Woodie on Warrawagine 
Station in the eastern Pilbara, which can then be used for 
biofuel in the mining industry, as well as cattle fodder. 
The success of this trial could potentially see an expansion 
of biofuels to other sites across the state.

Vue Group signing 
From left to right: 
Madam Yang Wen Yan – President of Toonmax Media, leader of a broadcaster to 60 million children, VC investor in film & TV, movie distributor. 
Alan Lindsay – Managing Director of Vue Group. 
Kerr Xu – CEO of Shanghai Hippo Animation Design, which in a few short years has become the largest independent animated movie studio in China. 
Madam Ying Lei – Director of Hunan Aniworld Cartoon, the number one cartoon satellite channel in China with a reach of 80 million children. 
Michael Kuan – Kuan Capital, the man who introduced the internet to China, investor in media, IT & medical technology.
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Business and Social 
Development Division 

Overview 
The Business and Social Development Division is a newly 
established division, which commenced operations on 
2 December 2013, to address the business and social 
aspects of the Royalties for Regions Act 2009.

The division comprises three discrete service delivery functions, 
including:

 � Business development and support
 � Regional capacity
 � Aboriginal economic development and governance.

The division is also considering a new regional service 
delivery model that accommodates and complements our key 
stakeholders and provides the department with a regional 
presence across Western Australia.

Aboriginal Economic Development and 
Governance Branch
The Aboriginal Economic Development and Governance 
Branch (AEDGB) was established in 2013 with the intent to 
facilitate improved economic development outcomes for 
Aboriginal people in regional Western Australia. The AEDGB is 
also engaged with a diverse range of stakeholders to drive the 
Aboriginal economic agenda across government. 

Aboriginal Affairs Coordinating Committee 
Aboriginal Economic Development and 
Governance Sub-Committee (AEDGSC):
 The department chairs the ministerially endorsed AEDGSC. 
Through the AEDGSC, the AEDGB facilitates a number of key 
government priorities focussing on: supporting the creation 
of economies in regional and remote areas; increasing 
employment opportunities for Aboriginal people; and 
supporting the sustainability and viability of Aboriginal 
small businesses in the regional WA.

The AEDGSC is a sub-committee of the Aboriginal Affairs 
Coordinating Committee (AACC), which in turn reports to 
the Aboriginal Affairs Cabinet Sub-Committee (AACSC). 
Achievements attained over the last six months include:

 � Holding the AEDGSC workshop with key stakeholders on 
16 December 2013 to assist with setting the priorities for 
Aboriginal economic development in WA

 � Developing the terms of reference and a strategic action 
plan for the AEDGSC.

Aboriginal Critical Community 
Response Fund (ACCRF)
On 28 January 2014, the department assumed responsibility 
for administering the Royalties for Regions funded ACCRF 
program from the Department of Aboriginal Affairs (DAA).

The ACCRF was established in 2012 to assist government in 
providing timely responses to addressing emerging issues and 
crises arising in Aboriginal communities. A number of projects 
have been funded under ACCRF for the 2013-14 financial year, 
these include:

 � Wunun Money Mentor
 � Broome HYPE Night Patrol
 � Cheeditha Cyclone Damage.

Aboriginal Governance and 
Leadership Program
In December 2013, the department also assumed 
responsibility for developing the Royalties for Regions funded 
Aboriginal Governance and Leadership Program, from DAA.

The AEDGSC is currently developing the business case for the 
program, which will provide a focus on improving corporate 
governance of Aboriginal corporations and leadership 
development in regional WA.
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Regional Capacity Branch
The Regional Capacity Branch (RCB) is responsible for 
three major programs aimed at: increasing the delivery of 
government information and services to regional communities; 
developing the skills and capacity of Western Australians; 
and connecting rural, remote and regional networks. 
These programs are delivered through functions of the:

 � Western Australian Community Resource Network 
(WACRN)

 � Westlink satellite television station
 � Rural, Remote and Regional (RRR) Women’s Network.

Western Australian Community Resource 
Network (WACRN)
The RCB administers over 100 Community Resource Centres 
(CRCs) across the state, to form the WACRN, which is funded 
under the Royalties for Regions program. This allows CRCs to:

 � Provide greater access to government services and 
information

 � Undertake continual community and capacity 
building activities.

Strategic on-the-ground management support for CRC 
committees and staff is provided through regionally 
based coordinators located in Boddington, Bunbury and 
Northam. The RCB also facilitates partnerships between 
CRCs and external agencies and provides ongoing support 
and guidance in the development of business plans, 
financial acquittals and strategic planning. 

From left to right:  
Standing: Paula Bray (Derby), Monica Treasure (Wandering), Jackie Jarvis (Margaret River), Lola Jones, (Broome), Sally Thomson (Woodanilling), 
Michelle Barrett (Esperance), Margaret Bertling (Karratha) 
Sitting: Renee Manning (Merredin), Katrina Hayes, Jo Fulwood (Cunderdin), Leonie Noble (Chair, Geraldton) 
Absent: Jodie Mortadza, (Bindoon), Janine Phillips, (Peaceful Bay)54



Westlink Satellite Television Station
Westlink is used to disseminate information that is of 
benefit to regional communities across Western Australia. 
State, commonwealth and local governments frequently 
use this service along with registered charities and 
not-for-profit organisations.

With a potential audience of approximately 35,000 viewers, 
the station’s channel can be accessed through CRCs, selected 
schools, TAFE and health centres.

Western Australian
Community Resource Centres
Providing regional communities
with local access to technology,
information, training and 
capacity building activities.

Warmun

Wyndham

Kununurra

Ringer Soak
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Cue

Leinster

Leonora
Laverton

Coolgardie
Kambalda

Norseman

Hopetoun

Bremer Bay

Wellstead
Frankland River

Tjuntjuntjara

Irrunytju

Shark Bay

Kalbarri
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Mingenew
Morawa
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Jurien Bay Moora
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Dongara
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Gingin
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Dandaragan
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Menzies
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Dowerin
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WundowiePerth York

Beverley
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Kondinin
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Pingrup
Ongerup

Wickepin
Wagin
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Pingelly
Wandering

Williams
West Arthur

Kojonup

Tambellup

Southern Cross
Westonia

Cunderdin
Kellerberrin

Quairading

Merredin
Bruce Rock

Narembeen

Hyden

Newdegate

Ravensthorpe

Jerramungup

Serpentine/Jarrahdale

Waroona
Yarloop

Pinjarra
Brunswick Boddington

Harvey

Donnybrook

Augusta

Denmark

Mount Barker

Walpole

Northcliffe

Pemberton

Bridgetown
Manjimup

Greenbushes
Boyup Brook

Nannup

Djarindjin

Bidyadanga

Jarlmadangah Burru Looma

Mowanjum

Broome

Rural, Remote and Regional (RRR) 
Women’s Network
The RRR Women’s Network provides a mechanism for 
networking, sharing and dissemination of information 
relevant to the development of women and regional 
communities across the State. It continues to bring 
together women to recognise, promote and expand the 
contribution they make to their respective communities.

A Reference Group of up to 12 women who 
are ministerially appointed from throughout 
non-metropolitan WA provide leadership and direction to 
the Network. In 2014 a survey to members, followed by 
a workshop with the Reference Group, was undertaken 
to ascertain what RRR members value most about the 
Network, or would like to see in the future. This informed 
the new strategic directions paper and key projects for 
the RRR for the next four years.

The RRR provides a communication network through the 
Network News magazine (10,500 copies per edition), 
website, e-news and social media. 
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Western Australian Regional Development 
Trust Review of the WACRN
In August 2012, the then Minister for Regional Development, 
the Hon Brendon Grylls MLA, referred a review of the WACRN 
to the Trust pursuant to section 12(b) of the Royalties for 
Regions Act 2009.

The Trust was requested to assess the current and potential 
contribution of the CRCs to regional service delivery and 
regional development, including the future strategic direction 
of the WACRN and its potential for an expanded role.

In addition to the Royalties for Regions legislation and policy, 
the Trust also considered government’s policy to deliver more 
government services in the regions through the not-for-profit 
sector, in line with the WA 2009 Economic Audit Report.

The CRC concept is built on and is an extension of the 
successful Telecentre network, which was established in 1991. 
The WACRN’s purpose was to foster social and economic 
development within local communities through the provision 
of local access to technology, information and services. In 
2009, the Telecentres were rebranded as CRCs and funded 
through the Royalties for Regions program. 

An extensive consultation process was undertaken by the 
Trust with key regional stakeholders concerning the: review 
process; key issues; and terms of reference. The department 
also communicated with and encouraged key government 
stakeholders to submit a proposal to the Trust’s review 
concerning the WACRN. 

The Trust: received 98 submission and 3 supplementary 
submissions; engaged in 20 consultations with CRC groups; 
and conducted 17 other consultations with key stakeholders 
and interested parties.

The review established that, on the whole, the WACRN is 
vibrant and diverse, generally well equipped, and provides a 
broad range of services as required by communities across the 
state. The transition from Telecentres to CRCs has seen a rapid 
and significant improvement in the level of professionalism 
and innovation expected of the WACRN.

The Trust made ten recommendations that were endorsed 
by Cabinet for public release and implementation by the 
department on 14 October 2013.

Since the release of the review, the RCB has been focussed on 
the implementation of the recommendations. An important 
recommendation of the review was the transition of the 
WACRN from a grant funding model to a fee for service 
contracting model, which aligns the funding with the 
Delivering Community Services in Partnership (DCSP) 
policy 2011. 

The RCB has been working on the procurement of services with 
95 town based CRCs, which is anticipated to be completed 
by 1 July 2014 and will strengthen the WACRN and focus on 
outcome based performance and reporting to government.

The remote based CRCs and Aboriginal communities 
will continue to be funded under a grant model for 
the 2014-2015 financial year. This will allow time for 
recommendations around identifying and implementing 
a separate CRC model for remote CRCs to be researched 
and established.

Importantly, CRCs provide an important avenue for 
government agencies to engage with regional communities, 
enabling a diverse range of information, programs and services 
to be delivered to the regions.

The implementation of the review recommendations will 
change the way centres are funded and more clearly articulate 
the government return on investment.
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WACRN and CRC Websites’ 
Redevelopment Project 
Through a collaborative partnership formed between the 
department’s Corporate and External Services Division and the 
RCB, over 100 network websites were launched in April 2014, 
to integrate the websites for the WACRN.

This new website presence has been designed for the WACRN 
and individual CRCs to enable closer alignment with the 
Royalties for Regions Act 2009 and increase interconnectedness 
between CRCs. The new websites will also enable CRCs to 
better implement the business, social and economic drivers.

The department has also upgraded the WACRN web portal and 
CRC websites using SharePoint 2013 Content Management 
System to enhance engagement with community audiences.

The CRC websites have been created as site collections within 
the WACRN web portal and each website provides CRCs access 
to update, manage and customise their content based on the 
services provided at the regional centre.

Business Development Branch
The Business Development Branch (BDB) supports the delivery 
and implementation of key election commitments funded 
under the Royalties for Regions fund. These include the:

 � Regional Buy Local initiative – to support new and existing 
small to medium businesses in remote and regional WA to 
develop, grow and utilise their knowledge of local markets 
with a view to sustainable growth

 � The WA Caravan and Camping Action Plan – to increase 
the opportunities for Western Australians and visitors 
to experience affordable caravan and camping holidays 
and support the economic diversification of regional 
communities.

BDB has the important role of facilitating and supporting 
inter-agency committees and to assist with the development 
of business cases, implementation processes monitoring, 
reporting and communications of key initiatives.

Other critical activities undertaken by the BDB is working 
with key government and funding agencies to influence 
potential business outcomes that can accommodate 
additional Aboriginal and regional buy local outcomes.
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Western Australian Caravan and Camping Strategy Action Plan
The State Government has invested $40,720,000 over four years from the Royalties for Regions Regional Community Services Fund 
to implement the WA Caravan and Camping Strategy Action Plan 2013-2018. This investment includes a component of the Parks 
for People Caravan and Camping Initiative aimed at increasing camping and caravan park sites and visitor facilities in national 
parks and reserves.

Tourism WA developed the five year plan to address the recommendations of the Parliamentary Inquiry into the Provision, 
Use and Regulation of Caravan Parks (and Camping Grounds) in Western Australia.

Implementation of eleven recommendations under the Action Plan will be led by State Government agencies in partnership 
with the tourism industry and local government including:

The Caravan and Camping Interagency Working Group oversee the delivery of programs identified to ensure all reporting 
requirements are met. DRD’s representation on the group while facilitating the administration is to identify opportunities 
for regional economic development through building small business capacity and buy local outcomes.

Tourism Western Australia

Department of Parks and Wildlife

Main Roads Western Australia

Department of Local Government 
and Communities

Department of Regional Development

In partnership 
with the tourism 

industry, local 
government 

and other State 
Government 

agencies

Royalties for Regions

Caravan and Cam
ping  

Interagency W
orking Group
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Financial Summary

Actual Results versus Budget Targets
Financial Targets 2013-14 Target(1) 

$000
2013-14 Actual 

$000
Variation(2) 

$000

Total cost of services (expense limit) (sourced from Statement of  
Comprehensive Income) (a)

188,860 186,241 (2,619)

Net cost of services (sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income)(b) 185,678 181,171 (4,507)

Total equity (sourced from Statement of Financial Position)(c) 84,122 56,189 (27,933)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held (sourced from Statement of Cash Flows)(d) 2,463 (1,050) (3,513)

Approved full time equivalent (FTE) staff level 149 154 5

(1)  As specified in the Budget Statements.
(2)  Further explanations are contained in Note 33 ‘Explanatory statement’ to the financial statements.

 (a)  The decrease in 2013-14 actual Total cost of services as compared to 2013-14 target is due to reduction in grant expenditure ($9.7m) and this is offset by increase in depreciation and amortisation ($3.6m) and 
for cost associated with ICT services and infrastructure cost.

 (b)  The decrease in 2013-14 actual Net cost of services is due to a decrease in Royalties for Regions funding for $12.3 million and this is offset by Grants received from Other State Agencies for $0.7 million and Other revenue for $2.3m.

 (c) The variance in the Total Equity is a result of the transfer of assets and liabilities for the Department of Lands due to Machinery of Government changes that resulted in the demerger of the former Department of 
Regional Development and Lands as two separate agencies.

 (d) The decrease in cash represents the reduction of funding received from the Royalties for Regions Fund.
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Operating expenses by category 

As indicated, grants expenditure was the major category of 
expenditure for the department in 2013-14, mainly due to 
initiatives funded through the Royalties for Regions program.

 $’000

 Employee benefits 17,808 9.6%

 Supplies and services 18,368 9.9%

 Depreciation 3,578 1.9%

 Finance 864 0.4%

 Accommodation 2,211 1.2%

 Grants 142,947 76.8%

 Other 465 0.2%

Total cost of services 186,241 100%

60



Income by category 

As indicated, Royalties for Regions was the major source of funding 
for DRD in 2013-14. 

 $’000

 User charges and fees 2,742 1.5%

 Commonwealth grants and contributions 526 0.3%

  Other revenue 1,802 1.0%

 Service appropriation 4,244 2.3%

  Resources received free of charge 411 0.2%

  Grants received from other State Agencies 700 0.4%

   Royalties for Regions Fund 171,612 94.3%

Total Income 182,037 100%
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Summary of Key Performance Indicators
Outcome: Increased capacity of regional communities to develop 
economic growth and social wellbeing:

2013-14 Target(1)  
$

2013-14 Actual 
$

Variation(2) 
$

Effectiveness Indicator 
Client satisfaction with regional development services 85% 90% 5%

Efficiency Indicators  
Service 1: Regional Investment  
Average cost per funded Initiative administered(a) $18,942 $24,456 $5,514 
Average internal cost per satellite site supported(b) $5,961 $4,535 ($1,426)
Service 2: Regional policy Average cost per item of written advice 
requiring Minister’s attention(c) $3,583 $5,700 $2,117

(1) The 2013-14 Target as per the estimated actuals disclosed in the 2014-15 Budget Statements.

(2) Explanations for the variations between targeted and actual results are presented in Note 33 ‘Explanatory Statement’ to the financial statements.

 (a) There has been a decrease in the number of initiatives administered as a result of projects acquitted this financial year and a decrease in the number of new agreements entered into in 2013-14.

 (b) The decrease in the Average internal cost per satellite site supported was due to higher number of satellite sites supported than anticipated.

 (c) The variance between the 2013-14 target and actuals in the Average cost per item of written advice requiring Minister’s attention was due to the lower number of items supported than anticipated.
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Significant issues  
impacting  

the agency 
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Current and emerging issues 

Agriculture/food – attracting strategic 
agricultural investments
The department has a role in facilitating potential development 
opportunities and linking these with investment in regional 
Western Australia. Further to election commitments 
regarding implementing agriculture and food initiatives and 
attracting strategic agricultural investment to the regions, the 
department will work collaboratively across government and 
through inter-agency partnerships to develop strategies to 
meet these commitments. 

Resourcing 
The administration of the Royalties for Regions program 
has escalated significantly since the original budget was 
announced for 2008-09. The department is processing 
an average of 100 new projects per year. In 2013-14, 
72 projects were Cabinet approved while 97 Agreements were 
signed ensuring project funds were disbursed and projects 
implemented. In order to maintain its high standard of 
governance adequate resourcing is necessary to maintain the 
department’s effectiveness in managing the program.

Food security and regional development 
opportunities 
With world food demand growing and supply becoming 
increasingly limited by reduced availability of arable land and 
water, Western Australia has a role in applying its expertise 
to developing new sustainable resources where water and 
suitable land are abundant. Western Australia’s proximity to 
Asia, where the bulk of increased world demand is expected 
to eventuate, represents a significant opportunity to capitalise 
on water and land resources that have the potential to be 
sustainably developed, particularly in the north of the state. 

DRD has a role in facilitating potential development 
opportunities and linking these with investment prospects. 
Sources of this much needed investment may well be 
international, particularly if the scale of development has 
the potential to be significant. The Ord Irrigation area in the 
Kimberley, the Carnarvon horticultural precinct and new 
areas in the Pilbara, represent northern growth opportunities 
for increased agricultural development based on sugar, 
cotton, grains, and horticulture or fodder crops. Successful 
agricultural projects will create downstream economic growth 
for communities in the north, including more jobs and 
diversified business opportunities.
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Commonwealth liaison 
Before the 2013 Federal Election, the Minister for Regional 
Development represented Western Australia on the 
Northern Australia Ministerial Forum (NAMF), which was 
part of the Commonwealth Government’s response to 
the recommendations of the Northern Australia Land and 
Water Taskforce report released in February 2010. 

Since the election the Commonwealth Government has taken 
steps to implement its election policy on Northern Australia, 
the Coalition’s 2030 Vision for Developing Northern Australia, 
released in June 2013. 

NAMF has been replaced by a Strategic Partnership on 
Northern Australia, comprising the Prime Minister, the 
Premiers of Queensland and Western Australia together 
with the Chief Minister of the Northern Territory. 

The Strategic Partnership’s first aim is to oversee the 
development of a Green Paper and later a White paper on 
the Development of Northern Australia and it met briefly for 
the first time prior to the Council of Australian Governments 
(COAG) meeting in May 2014. 

A Joint Select Committee on Northern Australia was appointed 
by the House of Representatives and the Senate towards 
the end of 2013. The Chair of the Joint Select Committee on 
Northern Australia, wrote to the Premier, and all other State 
Cabinet Ministers, to advise them of a Parliamentary inquiry 
into the development of Northern Australia, to be coordinated 
by the committee. 

DRD coordinated the WA Government Submission to the 
Commonwealth Joint Select Committee on Northern Australia 
and the submission from Hon Terry Redman MLA, Minister for 
Regional Development, was sent to the Committee Chair in 
March 2014.

DRD will continue to work with the Department of the 
Premier and Cabinet (DPC) to respond to the Green Paper. 
Western Australia is also providing further information on 
projects and initiatives in northern Western Australia of interest 
to the committee’s enquiries. 

The Commonwealth Minister for Agriculture, the Hon Barnaby 
Joyce MP, also is the chair a new ministerial working group 
set up to identify new infrastructure projects that can deliver 
Australia’s water supply needs in the future. 

Economic and social trends

The first task of the ministerial working group, will be to 
identify priorities, investment and processes to fast-track 
development. The ministerial working group is intended 
to provide the opportunity to prioritise Australia’s water 
and infrastructure needs – both by upgrading existing 
infrastructure or building new infrastructure.

The ministerial working group brings together key areas of the 
government including infrastructure, water, agriculture and 
the environment and will look at new dams as well as options 
like harvesting and storing water in underground aquifers to 
further boost the efficient and sustainable utilisation of our 
water resources.

The working group will consult with state and territory 
governments to understand their priorities and how they 
can best work together.

Labour shortages 
A key challenge upon the state now, and for at least the 
next several years, will be the attraction and retention of 
skilled labour. Analysis shows that continued economic 
growth, immigration forecasts, and retirements mean that 
the state could need an additional 76,000 workers by2015. 
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Community engagement
The Western Australian community has a growing expectation 
for greater engagement on regional development and 
Royalties for Regions projects. The department is committed 
to informing and involving the community where possible. 

Fly-in-Fly-out workforce 
The rapid growth of construction-related activity, particularly 
in the north west of Western Australia, placed additional 
pressures on already tight housing markets in some 
regional areas. These pressures have diminished now that the 
construction phase of many resource projects has finished. 
However, a legacy of that period was that many large 
Transient Worker Accommodation (TWA) sites were built to 
accommodate this peak workforce leading to a current surplus 
of TWAs that needs to be managed.

Cross-government and industry 
collaboration 
Through Royalties for Regions, the department engages with 
regional communities and government agencies to ensure that 
regional development policy, strategic planning frameworks 
and investment plans are aligned across government at the 
local, regional and state level.

DRD engages with all levels of government through a number 
of working groups and committees. 

These include but are not limited to:

 � Aboriginal Affairs Coordinating Committee 
 � Directors General Royalties for Regions Reference Group 
 � Directors General Workforce Development Group 
 � Directors General Approvals Working Group 
 � Policy Capability Framework Reference Group
 � Regional Development Commission meetings
 � Senior Officers Group on Water Supply Planning
 � Broadband Working Group 
 � Statistical Policy Committee
 � Western Australian Planning Commission and 

Infrastructure Coordinating Committee 
 � Western Australian Local Government Association. 

Changes in written law 

During the 2013-14 financial year no new legislation was 
passed or proclaimed.
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7th Floor Albert Facey House  
469 Wellington Street  
Perth 

Mail to:  
Perth BC PO Box 8489  
Perth WA 6849 

Tel: 08 6557 7500 
Fax: 08 6557 7600

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
Department of Regional Development

Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the 
Department of Regional Development.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial 
Position as at 30 June 2014, the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of 
Cash Flows, Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, 
Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service, and Summary 
of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income 
Estimates for the year then ended, and Notes comprising 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Director General’s Responsibility for the 
Financial Statements
The Director General is responsible for keeping proper 
accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal 
control as the Director General determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the financial statements based 
on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require 
compliance with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and that the audit be planned and performed 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Department’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
the Director General, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Auditor General
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Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on 
proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Department of Regional 
Development at 30 June 2014 and its financial performance 
and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Treasurer’s Instructions.

Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the Department of 
Regional Development during the year ended 30 June 2014.

Controls exercised by the Department of Regional 
Development are those policies and procedures established by 
the Director General to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, 
and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions.

Director General’s Responsibility for Controls
The Director General is responsible for maintaining an 
adequate system of internal control to ensure that the receipt, 
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and 
disposal of public and other property, and the incurring of 
liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other 
relevant written law.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the controls exercised by the 
Department of Regional Development based on my audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and 
Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the adequacy of controls to ensure that 
the Department complies with the legislative provisions. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement 
and include an evaluation of the design and implementation 
of  relevant controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Department of 
Regional Development are sufficiently adequate to provide 
reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, 
and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2014.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the 
Department of Regional Development for the year 
ended 30 June 2014.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness 
indicators and the key efficiency indicators that provide 
information on outcome achievement and service provision.

Director General’s Responsibility for the 
Key Performance Indicators
The Director General is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance 
with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such controls as the Director General 
determines necessary to ensure that the key performance 
indicators fairly represent indicated performance.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the key performance indicators 
based on my audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the key performance indicators. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key 
performance indicators. In making these risk assessments 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
Director General’s preparation and fair presentation of the key 
performance indicators in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes 
evaluating the relevance and appropriateness of the key 
performance indicators for measuring the extent of outcome 
achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the 
Department of Regional Development are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the Department’s 
performance and fairly represent indicated performance 
for the year ended 30 June 2014.

Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the 
independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 
and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other 
relevant ethical requirements.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication 
of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and 
key performance indicators of the Department of Regional 
Development for the year ended 30 June 2014 included on 
the Department’s website. The Department’s management 
is responsible for the integrity of the Department’s website. 
This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of 
the Department’s website. The auditor’s report refers only 
to the financial statements and key performance indicators 
described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other 
information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these 
financial statements or key performance indicators. If users 
of the financial statements and key performance indicators 
are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication 
on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the 
audited financial statements and key performance indicators 
to confirm the information contained in this website version 
of the financial statements and key performance indicators.

Colin Murphy 
Auditor General 
For Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia 
18 September 201470



Certification of Financial Statements  
For the year ended 30 June 2014

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Regional Development have been 
prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper 
accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 
30 June 2014 and the financial position as at 30 June 2014.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Fauziah Antonio Paul Whyte 
Chief Finance Officer A/Director General 
16 September 2014  16 September 2014

Financial Statements 
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Note 2014
$000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6. 17,808

Supplies and services 7. 18,368 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8. 3,578 

Finance cost 9. 864 

Accommodation expenses 10. 2,211 

Grants and subsidies 11. 142,947 

Other expenses 12. 465
Total cost of services 186,241 

Income
Revenue

User charges and fees 13. 2,742 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 14. 526

Other revenue 15. 1,802
Total Revenue 5,070 
Total income other than income from  
State Government 5,070 
NET COST OF SERVICES 181,171 

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2014

Note 2014
$000

Income from State Government 16.
Service appropriation 4,244 

Services received free of charge  411 

Royalties for Regions Fund 171,612 

Grants received from Other State Agencies 700
Total income from State Government 176,967
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (4,204)

Other comprehensive income  - 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (4,204)

See also the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.

As of the 1st of July 2013 the Department of Regional Development and Lands was  
re-designated as the Department of Regional Development and the new Department of Lands 
was established. As this is the first reporting period for the Department of Regional 
Development there are no comparative figures to disclose.
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Note 2014
$000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 17, 29 30,601 

Receivables 18. 4,671 

Other current assets 20.  3,339 
Total Current Assets 38,611 

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 17, 29 455 

Amounts receivable for services 19. 1,428 

Property, Plant and equipment 21. 22,097 

Intangible assets 22. 1,678 

Other non-current assets 20. 12,696 
Total Non-Current Assets 38,354 
TOTAL ASSETS 76,965 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 24. 815 

Borrowings 25. 2,308 

Provisions 26. 3,539 

Other liabilities 27. 3 
Total Current Liabilities 6,665 

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2014 

Note 2014
$000

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 25. 13,088

Provisions 26. 1,023 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 14,111 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 20,776
NET ASSETS 56,189

EQUITY
Contributed Equity 28. 60,393

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (4,204)
TOTAL EQUITY 56,189

See also the ‘Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service’.

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.

As of the 1st of July 2013 the Department of Regional Development and Lands was 
re-designated as the Department of Regional Development and the new Department of Lands 
was established. As this is the first reporting period for the Department of Regional 
Development there are no comparative figures to disclose.
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Note Contributed equity Reserves
Accumulated 

surplus/(deficit) Total equity
$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2013 (former Department of Regional 
Development and Lands) 28. 147,409 166,025 - 313,434 

Surplus/(Deficit)  -  - (4,204) (4,204)
Total comprehensive income for the period  -  - (4,204) (4,204)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations  -  -  -  - 

Other contributions by owners 3,282  -  - 3,282

Distribution to owners (90,298) (166,025)  - (256,323)
Total (87,016) (166,025)  - (253,041)
Balance at 30 June 2014 60,393  - (4,204) 56,189

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

As of the 1st of July 2013 the Department of Regional Development and Lands was re-designated as the Department of Regional Development and the new Department of Lands was established.  
As this is the first reporting period for the Department of Regional Development there are no comparative figures to disclose.

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2014
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Note 2014
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 4,244 
Capital appropriation -
Holding account drawdowns -
Royalties for Regions Fund 171,612 
Grants received from Other State Agencies 16. 700
Capital contribution received from Other State Agencies 28. 450
Non-retained revenue distributed to owner 28. -
Net cash provided by State Government 177,006 

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (17,816)
Supplies and services (18,893)
Finance Cost  - 
Accommodation (2,211)
Grants and subsidies (142,947)
GST payments on purchases (15,348)
GST payments to taxation authority  - 
Other payments (465)

Receipts
User charges and fees 2,742
Commonwealth grants and contributions 526
GST receipts on sales 296
GST receipts from taxation authority 14,297
Other receipts 2,104
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 29. (177,715)

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2014

Note 2014
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current assets (341)
Purchase of intangible asset -
Receipts
Proceeds from disposal of non-current asset -
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (341)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,050)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 36,658 
Cash Balance transferred from the Department of Lands – 
Administered 28. 2,833 
Cash Balance transferred to the Department of Lands 28. (7,178)
Cash Balance transferred to the Department of Treasury 28. (207)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
THE PERIOD 29. 31,056

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

As of the 1st of July 2013 the Department of Regional Development and Lands was  
re-designated as the Department of Regional Development and the new Department of Lands 
was established. As this is the first reporting period for the Department of Regional 
Development there are no comparative figures to disclose.
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Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service
For the year ended 30 June 2014

Regional Investment 
2014

Regional Policy 
2014

Total 
2014

$000 $000 $000
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 11,766 6,042 17,808 
Supplies and services 14,973 3,395 18,368 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 3,236 342 3,578 
Finance cost 864 - 864 
Accommodation expenses 1,627 584 2,211 
Grants and subsidies 142,346 601 142,947 
Other expenses 330 135 465 
Total cost of services 175,142 11,099 186,241 

Income
User charges and fees 1,950 792 2,742 
Commonwealth grants and contributions 373 153 526 
Other revenue 1,279 523 1,802 
Total income other than income from State Government 3,602 1,468 5,070 
NET COST OF SERVICES 171,540 9,631 181,171 

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 4,163 81 4,244 
Services received free of charge 292 119 411 
Royalties for Regions Fund 165,729 5,883 171,612 
Grants received from Other State Agencies 497 203 700 
Total income from State Government 170,681 6,286 176,967 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (859)  (3,345)  (4,204)

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

As of the 1st of July 2013 the Department of Regional Development and Lands was re-designated as the Department of Regional Development and the new Department of Lands was established. 
As this is the first reporting period for the Department of Regional Development there are no comparative figures to disclose.76



Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service
As at 30 June 2014

Regional Investment 
2014

Regional Policy 
2014

Total 
2014

$000 $000 $000
Assets
Current assets  27,414  11,197  38,611 
Non-current assets  27,231  11,123  38,354 
Total assets  54,645  22,320  76,965 

Liabilities
Current liabilities 4,732 1,933 6,665 
Non-current liabilities  10,019 4,092  14,111 
Total liabilities  14,751 6,025  20,776 
NET ASSETS  39,894  16,295  56,189 

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

As of the 1st of July 2013 the Department of Regional Development and Lands was re-designated as the Department of Regional Development and the new Department of Lands was established. 
As this is the first reporting period for the Department of Regional Development there are no comparative figures to disclose.
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2014  
Estimate

2014  
Actual  Variance

$000 $000 $000
Delivery of Services
Item 14 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 3,963 3,963 -
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes
– Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 281 281  - 
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 4,244 4,244 -

Capital  
Capital appropriation  -  -  - 
GRAND TOTAL 4,244 4,244 -

Details of Expenses by Service
Regional Investment 184,763 175,142 (9,621)
Regional Policy 4,097  11,099 7,002
Total Cost of Services 188,860  186,241 (2,619)
Less Total income (3,182) (5,070) (1,888)
Net Cost of Services 185,678  181,171 (4,507)
Adjustments (181,434) (176,927) 4,507
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 4,244 4,244 -

Capital Expenditure 
Purchase of non-current physical assets 341 341
Adjustments for other funding sources(i)  - (341) (341)
Capital appropriations  -  -  - 

(i)  Adjustments comprise Royalities for Regions funding, Resources Received Free of Charge, Grants received from other State government agencies, movements in cash balances and other 
accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

Note 33 ‘Explanatory statement’ provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2014.

As of the 1st of July 2013 the Department of Regional Development and Lands was re-designated as the Department of Regional Development and the new Department of Lands was established.  
As this is the first reporting period for the Department of Regional Development there are no comparative figures to disclose.

Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates
For the year ended 30 June 2014
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Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards

General
The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014 have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ 
includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB).

The Department has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards 
from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. 
There has been no early adoption of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued 
or amended (but not operative) by the Department for the annual reporting period ended 
30 June 2014.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) General statement
The Department is a not for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial 
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements 
of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by 
the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to 
vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that 
govern the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the 
reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the 
historical cost convention, except for land, buildings and infrastructure which have been 
measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been 
consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to 
the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements 
that have been made in the process of applying the Department’s accounting policies resulting 
in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the 
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2014
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(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Department and bodies included at note 37 “Related bodies”.

Mission
The Department’s mission is to facilitate and development of sustainable regional communities 
so they have a sense of purpose and control over their future. 

The Department is predominantly funded from Royalties for Regions. The financial statements 
encompass all funds through which the Department controls resources to carry on its functions.

Services
The Department provides the following services:

Service 1: Regional Investment
Provide support to the regional Community Resource Centre network, the Regional Development 
Council and Commissions.

Service 2: Regional Policy
This service focuses on delivering effective government policy to support regional development 
and service delivery, including modernising legislation.

(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities 
requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions 
by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity 
contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited 
directly to Contributed equity. 

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers 
are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

(e) Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. 
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Service appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the 
Department gains control of the appropriated funds. The Department gains control of 
appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or credited 
to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury. 
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Net Appropriation Determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for 
services under the control of the Department. In accordance with the determination specified 
in the 2013-2014 Budget Statements, the Department retained $5.07 million in 2014 from 
the following:

 �  proceeds from fees and charges;
 �  sale of goods;
 �  other departmental revenue.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets 
comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at 
their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the 
Department obtains control over the funds. The Department obtains control of the funds at 
the time the funds are deposited into the Department’s bank account. 

(f) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

(g) Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are recognised 
as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of 
property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately 

expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part 
of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost. 

For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal 
cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement 
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the 
measurement of buildings and infrastructure and historical cost for all other property, plant and 
equipment. Buildings and infrastructure are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation 
(buildings and infrastructure only) and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of 
property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of buildings is determined on the basis 
of current market buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When 
buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation 
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the 
revalued amount.

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of buildings is determined on the basis of 
existing use. This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. 
Fair value for existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, ie. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the 
fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying 
amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately. 
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Buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does 
not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value of infrastructure has been determined by reference to the depreciated replacement 
cost (existing use basis) as the assets are specialised and no market-based evidence of value is 
available. Independent valuations are obtained every 3 to 5 years for infrastructure.

When infrastructure is revalued, the accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with 
the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of the asset 
after revaluation equals its revalued amount.

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply 
the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated useful life. Professional judgement 
by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market 
type assets and existing use assets.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, 
any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation 
of non-current assets as described in note 21 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over 
their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future 
economic benefits. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are 
reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Buildings 20 to 40 years
Office equipment 5 years
Computer hardware 3 years
Furniture & fittings 10 years
Communications equipment 5 years
Other equipment 10 years

Leased improvements are depreciated on a straight line basis over the life of the lease 
or the life of the asset, whichever is less. 
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(h) Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible 
assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed 
(amortised) over their useful lives. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal 
cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the 
expected benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. 
All intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual value. 

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Software 3 years

Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and 
equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an 
intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.

(i) Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested for any indication 
of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, 
the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an 
impairment loss is recognised. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is 
written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other 
comprehensive income. As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been 
identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the 
accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration 
of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling 
replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use 
are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is 
any indication of impairment.
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The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. 
Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is 
determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference 
to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable 
amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end 
of each reporting period.

(j) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying 
amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the 
Statement of Financial Position. Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

All Crown land holdings are vested in the Department by the Government. The Department 
of Lands (DoL) is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land. The Department transfers 
the Crown land and any attached buildings to DoL when the land becomes available for sale.

(k) Leases
Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease 
term, as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, 
the present value of the minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of the lease. 
The assets are disclosed as plant, equipment and vehicles under lease, and are depreciated over 
the period during which the Department is expected to benefit from their use. Minimum lease 
payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding 
lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the 
pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties.

(l) Financial instruments

In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial instrument:

 � Loans and receivables; and
 � Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:

 � Financial Assets
 – Cash and cash equivalents
 – Restricted cash and cash equivalents
 – Receivables
 – Amounts receivable for services

 � Financial Liabilities
 – Payables

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally 
equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value 
because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the 
effect of discounting is not material.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash 
and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash 
and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
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(n) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 24 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at 
the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial 
year end. The Department considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent 
to its fair value.

The accrued salaries suspense account (See note 17 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) 
consists of amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to 
largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead 
of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account. 

(o) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The Department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in 
cash and partly as an asset (holding account receivable). The accrued amount receivable is 
accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements 
and asset replacement.

(p) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible 
amounts (ie. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis 
and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account. 
The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective 
evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. 

(q) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to 
make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services at fair value, as they are 
generally settled within 30 days. 

(r) Borrowings
All loans payable are initially recognised at fair value, being the net proceeds received. 
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(s) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 

Provisions – employee benefits 
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the 
end of the reporting period.

Annual leave
The liability for annual leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting 
period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the 
liability is settled. 

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the reporting period 
and is therefore considered to be ‘other long-term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability 
is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, 
as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.
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The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Department does not have 
an unconditional right to the defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting period.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting 
period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the 
liability is settled. 

Long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period 
is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, 
as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are 
classified as non-current liabilities because the Department has an unconditional right to defer 
the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Deferred leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into 
an agreement to self-fund an additional 12 months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. 
The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. 

This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a 
current provision as employees can leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.

Purchased leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into 
an agreement to self-fund up to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year. The provision 
recognises the value of salary set aside for employees and is measured at the undiscounted 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Superannuation 
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other funds providers administer 
public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative 
requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector 
employees varies according to commencement and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed 
to new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit 
lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of 
either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became non contributory members of the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 
became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing 
members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees became able to choose their preferred 
superannuation fund. The Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB or other funds 
on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation 
Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish 
the Department’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not 
members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.
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The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government 
reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent 
contributions (defined contributions) made by the Department to GESB extinguishes the agency’s 
obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the 
unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who 
transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are 
funded by concurrent contributions made by the Department to the GESB. 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped 
from the Treasurer for the employer’s share.

Provisions – other
Employment on-costs 
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits 
and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they 
relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not 
included as part of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included 
in ‘Employment on-costs provision’. 

(t) Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises of 
employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBS, 
or other superannuation fund. The employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the 
GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.

(u) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as income at the fair 
value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that the Department would otherwise 
pay for. A corresponding expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under 
Income from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(w) Comparative figures
The Department of Regional Development was designated effective from 1 July 2013 following 
the separation of the former Department Regional Development and Lands into the Department 
of Regional Development and the newly established Department of Lands. As this is the first 
reporting period of the Department of Regional Development under its new structure, no 
comparative figures have been provided.

Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying 
accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the 
application of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements. The Department evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitments
The Department has entered into a number of leases for buildings for branch office 
accommodation. Some of these leases relate to buildings of a temporary nature and it has been 
determined that the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 
Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases.
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Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Department’s long service leave 
provision include expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and 
expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the 
carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013 that impacted on the Department.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement

This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair 
value and requires additional disclosures for assets and liabilities measured 
at fair value. There is no financial impact.

AASB 119 Employee Benefits

This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making changes to 
the recognition, presentation and disclosure requirements.

The Department assessed employee leave patterns to determine whether 
annual leave is a short-term or other long-term employee benefit. 
The resultant discounting of annual leave liabilities that were 
previously measured at the undiscounted amounts is not material.

AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards

This Standard supersedes AASB 1048 (June 2012), enabling references 
to the interpretation in all other Standards to be updated by reissuing the 
service Standard. There is no financial impact.
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AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 
118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 
1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132]

This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in 
other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as the result of 
issuing AASB 13 in September 2011. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 
(September 2011)[AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 and Int 14]

This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in 
September 2011. The resultant discounting of annual leave liabilities that 
were previously measured at the undiscounted amounts is not material.

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –  
Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
[AASB 7 & 132]

This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to include 
information that will enable users of an entity’s financial statements to 
evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including 
rights of set-off associated with the entity’s recognised financial assets and 
recognised financial liabilities, on the entity’s financial position. There is 
no financial impact.

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual 
Improvements 2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 2] 

This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations as a consequence of the annual improvements process. 
There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective 
Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-11, 2010-7,  
2011-7 & 2011-8]

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 
Financial Instruments to 1 January 2015 (instead of 1 January 2013). 
Further amendments are also made to numerous consequential 
amendments arising from AASB 9 that will now apply from 1 January 2015. 
There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-9 Amendment to AASB 1048 arising from the Withdrawal of Australian 
Int 1039 

The withdrawal of Int 1039 Substantive Enactment of Major Tax Bills in 
Australia has no financial impact for the Authority during the reporting 
period and at balance date. Measurement of tax assets and liabilities 
continues to be measured in accordance with enacted or substantively 
enacted tax law pursuant to AASB 112.46-47.
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AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and 
Other Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 119, 127, 128, 132, 133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049 & 2011-7 
and Int 12]

The Standard introduces a number of editorial alterations and amends 
the mandatory application date of Standards for not-for-profit entities 
accounting for interests in other entities. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, 
Materiality and Financial Instruments.

Part A of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards 
arising from revisions to the Australian Accounting Conceptual Framework 
for periods ending on or after 20 December 2013. Other Parts of this 
Standard become operative in later periods. There is no financial 
impact for Part A of the Standard.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. 
Consequently, the Department has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting 
Standards that have been issued that may impact the Department. Where applicable, the 
Department plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

Int 21 Levies

This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under 
which a liability to pay a government levy imposed 
should be recognised. There is no financial impact for 
the Department at reporting date.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing 
a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard was 
amended to 1 January 2018. The Department has not 
yet determined the application of the potential impact 
of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes 
AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements and Int 112 Consolidation – Special 
Purpose Entities, introducing a number of changes 
to accounting treatments.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred for 
not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition 
Guidance and Other Amendments. The adoption of 
the new Standard has no financial impact for the 
Model Department as it doesn’t impact accounting for 
related bodies and the Department has no interests in 
other entities.

1 Jan 2014

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes 
AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, introduces new 
principles for determining the type of joint arrangement 
that exists, which are more aligned to the actual rights 
and obligations of the parties to the arrangement.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred 
for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. There is 
no financial impact for the Model Department as the 
new standard continues to require the recognition of 
the Department’s share of assets and share of liabilities 
for the unincorporated joint operation.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes 
disclosure requirements in AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements, AASB 128 Investments 
in Associates and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures. 
Mandatory application was deferred for not-for-profit 
entities by AASB 2012-10. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

The Department has not yet determines the application 
or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes 
AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, removing the consolidation requirements 
of the earlier standard whilst retaining accounting and 
disclosure requirements for the preparation of separate 
financial statements. Mandatory application was 
deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 
2012-10. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes 
AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a 
number of clarifications for the accounting treatments 
of changed ownership interest.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by 
one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. 
The adoption of the new Standard has no financial 
impact for the Model Department as it does not 
hold investments in associates and the accounting 
treatments for joint operations is consistent with 
current practice.

1 Jan 2014

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 1031 Materiality

This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), 
removing Australian guidance on materiality that is 
not available in IFRSs and refers to other Australian 
pronouncements that contain guidance on materiality. 
There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting

This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in 
the financial statements of not-for-profit entities within 
the General Government Sector. The Department will be 
required to disclose additional budgetary information 
and explanations of major variances between actual and 
budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2014

AASB  
2009-11

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 
121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 
10 & 12]

[modified by AASB 2010-7]

1 Jan 2015
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 
102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 
137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments 
to other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in 
December 2010. The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements 
Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 
124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 
16 & 17]

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes 
arising from the issue of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 
Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. 
Mandatory application was deferred for not-for-
profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The Model Statutory 
Authority has analysed the suite of Consolidation 
and Joint Arrangements Standards and determined 
that no financial impact arises from adopting the 
various Standards.

1 Jan 2014
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
[AASB 132]

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 
to address inconsistencies identified in applying 
some of the offsetting criteria, including clarifying the 
meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of 
set-off” and that some gross settlement systems may 
be considered equivalent to net settlement. There is no 
financial impact.

The model Department does not routinely hold financial 
assets and financial liabilities that it intends to settle on 
a net basis, therefore there is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount 
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets.

This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure 
changes. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2013-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge 
Accounting [AASB 139]

This Standard permits the continuation of hedge 
accounting in circumstances where a derivative, which 
has been designated as a jedging instrument, is novated 
from one counterparty to a central counterparty as 
a consequence of laws or regulations. The model 
Department does not routinely enter into derivatives 
or hedges, therefore there is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit 
Entities – Control and Structured Entities [AASB 10, 
12 & 1049].

The amendments, issued in October 2013, provide 
significant guidance in determining whether a 
not-for-profit entity controls another entity when 
financial returns are not key attribute of the investor’s 
relationship. The Standard has no financial impact in its 
own right, rather the impact result from the adoption 
of the amended AASB 10.

1 Jan 2014
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial 
Instruments.

This omnibus Standard makes amendments to other 
Standards arising from the deletion of references 
to AASB 1031 in other Standards for periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014 (Part B), and, 
defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017 
(Part C). The Department has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of AASB 9, 
otherwise there is no financial impact for Part B.

1 Jan 2014

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

The Department has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2014

1 Jan 2015

1 Jan 2016

1 Jan 2018

Note 6. Employee benefits expense

2014
$000

Wages and salaries(a) 16,348 
Superannuation – defined contribution plans(b) 1,460 

17,808
(a)  Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, 

leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component.
(b)  Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESB and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance, are 
included at note 12 ‘Other expenses’. 

Employment on-costs liability is included at note 26 ‘Provisions’.

Note 7. Supplies and services

2014
$000

Communications 849 
Consultants and contractors 16,054 
Consumables 233 
Travel 289 
Other 943 

18,368 
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Note 8. Depreciation and amortisation expense

2014
$000

Depreciation
Buildings 576 
Office equipment 5
Computer hardware 198
Furniture and fittings 23
Communications 2
Other equipment 1
Leased improvements 1,858 
Total depreciation 2,663

Amortisation
Computer software 915 
Total amortisation 915
Total depreciation and amortisation 3,578

Note 9. Finance costs

2014
$000

Interest expense 864 
Finance costs expensed 864

Note 10. Accommodation expenses

2014
$000

Lease rentals 2,095 
Repairs and Maintenance 116 

2,211
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Note 11. Grants and subsidies

2014
$000

Recurrent
Community Resource Network Program 11,572
Royalities for Regions – Country Local Government Fund 41,477 
Royalities for Regions – Gascoyne Revitalisation 16,169 
Royalities for Regions – Mid West Revitalisation 28,710
Royalities for Regions – Goldfields Esperance Revitalisation 6,618
Royalities for Regions – Pilbara Revitalisation 500 
Royalities for Regions – East Kimberley Revitalisation 780 
Royalities for Regions – Ord Expansion Aboriginal Development Package 4,135
Royalities for Regions – Pilbara Cities Initiative 11,791
Royalities for Regions – Regional Strategic Projects Grants 11,389 
Royalities for Regions – Regional Capital Works Initiative 2,250 
Royalities for Regions – Regional Grants Scheme 1,560 
Royalities for Regions – Regional Healths Program 2,500 
Royalities for Regions – Action Agenda Projects 2,237 
Other Minor Grants and Subsidies 1,259 

142,947 

Note 12. Other expenses

2014
$000

Employment on-costs(a) 101
Other 364 

465
(a)  Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability 

associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 26 ‘Provisions’. 
Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not 
included in employment on-costs.

Note 13. User charges and fees

2014
$000

Services Rendered(a) 2,742
2,742

(a) Mainly fees charged to Regional Development Commissions and Department of Lands for bureau services. 
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Note 14. Commonwealth grants and contributions

2014
$000

Remote Indigenous Public Internet Access 505
Other recurrent 21
Indian Ocean Territories -

526

The Agreement pursuant to Section 23 of the Financial Management Act, between the Treasurer 
and the Accountable Officer provides for the retention of monies received by the Department of 
the Commonwealth in respect of the Indian Ocean Territories. Revenue retained persuant to this 
agreement is to be applied to the Department’s Services. Monies received by the Department in 
respect of the services provided shall be credited to the Department’s operating account.

2014
$000

Opening balances 242 
Plus: Gross receipts -

242 
Less: Gross payments 155 
Closing balances 87 

The Department has a Service Delivery Arrangement with the Commonwealth Department 
of Regional Australia, Local Government, Arts and Sport whereby it provides the same level of 
support and advice to the Shires of Christmas Island and Cocos (Keeling) Islands as it provides 
to Western Australian local governments. These local governments are Indian Ocean Territories, 
however, they operate under the auspices of the WA Local Government Act 1995. Under a 
special arrangement, the Australian Minister for Local Government and Territories is the 
designated Minister under that Act.

Note 15. Other revenue

2014
$000

Interest Revenue(a) 715
Other revenue 1,087

1,802
(a) Interest Revenue relates to a finance lease agreement with the Baiyungu Aboriginal Corporation. 
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Note 16. Income from State Government

2014
$000

Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation(a) 4,244 

4,244 
Services received free of charge from other State Government Agencies during 
the period:(b)

Department of Finance – Government Accommodation 260
State Solicitor’s Office – Legal Services Charges 151

411
Royalties for Regions Fund:
Country Local Government Fund(c)  46,222 
Regional Community Services Account(c)  46,159 
Regional Infrastructure and Headwork Account(c)  58,945 
Regional and Statewide Initiatives  20,286 

171,612 

Grants received from other State government agencies:
Department of Lands 600
Other Grants from other State government agencies 100

700
176,967

(a)  Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash 
component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation 
expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.

(b)  Discretionary transfers of assets (including grants) and liabilities between State Government agencies are 
reported under Income from State Government. Transfers of assets and liabilities in relation to a restructure 
of administrative arrangements are recognised as distribution to owners by the transferor and contribution 
by owners by the transferee under AASB 1004 in respect of net assets transferred. Other non-discretionary 
non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities designated as contributions by owners under TI 955 are also 
recognised directly to equity.

(c)  This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalites for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are committed to 
projects and programs in WA regional areas.
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Note 17. Restricted cash and cash equivalents

2014
$000

Current
Royalities for Regions Fund(a) 27,865
Colocation Fund 2,736

30,601 
Non-current
Accrued salaries suspense account(b) 455 

455 
(a)  Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.
(b)  Funds held in the suspense account used only for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year 

that occurs every 11 years.

Note 18. Receivables

2014
$000

Current
Receivables 55
Allowances for impairment of receivables -
GST Receivable 4,554 
Other debtors 62
Total current 4,671 
Total receivables 4,671 

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment 
of receivables:
Balance at start of period -
Doubtful debts expense -
Amounts written off during the period -
Amount recovered during the period -
Balance at end of period -

The Department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security 
for receivables.
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Note 19. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

2014
$000

Current -
Non-current 1,428 

1,428 

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can 
only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

Note 20. Other assets

2014
$000

Current
Prepayments 921
Lease Prepayments(a) 2,418
Total current 3,339

Non-Current

Lease Prepayments(a) 12,696 
Total non-current 12,696 
(a)  The Department of Regional Development, on behalf of the State, has entered into a lease agreement with the 

Baiyungu Aboriginal Corporation. The lease is in relation to the Royalties for Regions funded Coral Bay Services 
Workers Accommodation project. The lease is a 10 year lease that expires in 2020. 

At the end of the lease, the workers accommodation will be transferred to the Baiyungu Aboriginal 
Corporation unless advised otherwise within 3 months from lease expiry. The value of the building has been 
recognised as a prepayment and will be expensed annually up to the lease expiry date.
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Note 21. Property, plant and equipment

2014
$000

Buildings
At fair value(a) 11,043
Accumulated depreciation (1,332)

9,711 

Office equipment
At cost 74 
Accumulated depreciation (52)

22 

Computer hardware 
At cost 899 
Accumulated depreciation (358)

541 

Fixtures and furniture
At cost 240 
Accumulated depreciation (40)

200 

2014
$000

Communications
At cost 21 
Accumulated depreciation (17)

4 

Other equipment
At cost 6 
Accumulated depreciation (3)

3 

Leased improvements
At cost 14,868 
Accumulated depreciation (3,252)

11,616 
22,097 

(a)  Buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2013 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 
(Valuation Services). The Valuations were performed during year ended 30 June 2014 and recognised at 
30 June 2014. In undertaking the valuation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for 
buildings: $11,043,000. For the remaining balance, fair value of buildings was determined on the basis of 
depreciated replacement cost. 
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Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table below.

Asset Reconciliation

2014 Land Buildings
Office 

Equipment
Computer 
Hardware

Furniture and 
Fittings Communications

Other 
Equipment

Leased 
Improvements Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Carrying amount at 
start of period 248,714 11,623 10 407 226 6 4 13,474 274,464
Additions - - 17 334 - - - - 351
Transfers(a) (248,714) (1,336) - (1) (4) - - - (250,055)
Other disposals - - - - - - - - -
Depreciation - (576) (5) (198) (23) (2) (1) (1,858) (2,663)
Revaluation increments/
(decrements) - - - - - - - - -
Carrying amount at 
end of period - 9,711 22 542 199 4 3 11,616 22,097

(a)  On the 1st of July 2013, the former Department of Regional Development and Lands was re-designated into Department of Regional Development and the new Department of Lands was established.  
As part of the Machinery of Government changes, some assets were transferred to the Department of Lands.
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Note 22. Intangible assets

2014
$000

Computer software
At cost 2,746
Accumulated amortisation (1,068)

1,678

Reconciliation:
Carrying amount at start of period 2,593
Additions -
Classified as held for sale -
Impairment losses -
Impairment losses reversed -
Amortisation expense (915)
Carrying amount at end of period 1,678

Note 23. Impairment of assets

There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment or intangible assets at 
30 June 2014. The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life 
during the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period, there were no intangible assets 
not yet available for use. 

All surplus assets at 30 June 2014 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written off.

Note 24. Payables

2014
$000

Current
Trade payables 68
Accrued expenses 327 
Accrued salaries 420
Total current 815

See note 34 ‘Financial instruments’.

Note 25. Borrowings 

2014
$000

Current
Finance lease liabilities 2,308
Total current 2,308

Non-Current
Finance lease liabilities 13,088
Total non-current 13,088

See note 20 ‘Other assets’ and note 30 ‘Commitments’.
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Note 26. Provisions

2014
$000

Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave(a) 1,456 
Long service leave(b) 2,033
Purchased leave(c) 25 

3,514

Other provisions
Employment on-costs(d) 25

25 
3,539

Non-current 
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave(b) 1,009
Purchased leave(c) 7 

1,016

Other provisions
Employment on-costs(d) 7

1,023
4,562

2014
$000

(a)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement 
of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 967
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 489

1,456

(b)  Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the 
liabilities is expected to occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 2,241
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 801

3,042

(c)  Purchase leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period. Actual settlement of liabilities is expected to occur as 
follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 32
More than 12 months of the end of the reporting period -

32
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2014
$000

(d)  The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to 
the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation 
insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. 
The associated expense, apart from unwinding of the discount (finance cost), 
is disclosed in note 12 ‘Other expenses’.

Movements in other provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the period, other than employee 
benefits, are set out below. 

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period -
Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised 32
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits -
Carrying amount at end of period 32

Note 27. Other liabilities

2014
$000

Current
Paid parental leave 3 

3 

Note 28. Equity
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of 
the community. Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department. 
The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of 
non-current assets.

2014
$000

Contributed equity
Balance at start of period 313,434 

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation -

Other contributions by owners
Department of Lands 450
Other Contribution(a) 2,832
Total contributions of owners 3,282
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2014
$000

Distributions to owners
Transfer of net assets to owners:
Department of Lands(b) (256,116)
Department of Treasury (c) (207)
Total distributions to owners (256,323)
Balance at end of period 60,393

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at start of period -
Result for the period (4,204)
Balance at end of period (4,204)

Total Equity at end of period 56,189

(a)  Other contribution of owners is the transfer of colocaton funds transferred from the Department of Lands 
administered account.

(b)  On the 1st of July 2013, the former Department of Regional Development and Lands split into 
Department of Regional Development and the new Department of Lands was established. As part of the 
Machinery of Government changes, some assets were transferred to the Department of Lands.

Transfer of net assets to: Department of Lands
Cash and cash equivalents 7,178
Lands and buildings 250,050 
Other Assets 2,699 
Total Assets 259,927

Liabilities 442 
Provisions 3,369 
Total Liabilities and provisions 3,811
Total Contribution by owners 256,116
(c)   Northern Planning Program will be managed by another government agency from 1 January 2014. 

The program’s cash balance have been returned to Treasury.
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Note 29. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the 
related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

2014
$000

Cash and cash equivalents -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 17 ‘Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents’) 31,056

31,056 

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided  
by/(used in) operating activities

Net cost of services (181,171)

Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 8 ‘Depreciation and 
amortisation expense’) 3,578
Doubtful debts expense (note 12 ‘Other expenses’) -
Services received free of charge (note 16 ‘Income from State Government’) 411
Finance cost – net interest 864

2014
$000

(Increase)/decrease in assets
Current receivables (619)
Non-current assets -

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables(a) 14
Current provisions 34
Other current liabilities (1)
Non-current provisions (69)
Change in GST in receivables/payables(b) (755)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (177,715)
(a)  Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable 

in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part 
of the reconciling items. 

(b)  This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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Note 30. Commitments

2014
$000

Finance lease commitments

Minimum lease payments commitments in relation to the finance leases 
are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 3,075 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 11,655 
Later than 5 years 3,580 
Minimum finance lease payments 18,310
Less future finance charges 2,914
Present value of finance lease liabilities 15,396

The present value of finance leases payable is as follows:
Within 1 year 2,308
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 9,695
Later than 5 years 3,393
Present value of finance lease liabilities 15,396

Included in the financial statements as:
Current (note 25 ‘Borrowings’) 2,308
Non-current (note 25 ‘Borrowings’) 13,088

15,396

2014
$000

The Department of Regional Development, on behalf of the State, has entered 
into a lease agreement with the Baiyungu Aboriginal Corporation. The lease 
is in relation to the Royalties for Regions funded Coral Bay Services Workers 
Accommodation project. The lease is a 10 year lease that expires in 2020. 
See note 20 ‘Other assets’ and note 25 ‘Borrowings’.

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 1,410
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 4,650
Later than 5 years 3,328

9,388

The Department has entered into a property lease which is a non-cancellable 
lease with a five year term, with rent payable monthly in advance. Contingent 
rent provisions within the lease agreement require that the minimum lease 
payments shall increase by the lower of CPI or 4% per annum. An option exists 
to renew the lease at the end of the five year term for an additional term of 
five years.

Other expenditure commitments

The Department has no expenditure commitment as at the 30 June 2014.
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Note 31. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
At the reporting date, the Department has no contingent liabilities or contingent assets

Note 32. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
No material events have occurred after 30 June 2014.

Note 33. Explanatory statement
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense is presented 
in the financial statement titled ‘Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income 
Estimates’ are shown below. Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% 
or $5 million. 

Total appropriations provided to deliver services
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2014
Although there was no variance in the total appropriation, there were significant offsetting 
variances in the following expenditure:

2014 
Estimate

2014 
Actual Variance

$000 $000 $000
Regional Investment(a) 184,763 175,142 (9,621)
Regional Policy(b) 4,097 11,099 7,002
(a)  Regional Investment – The variance is due to decreased expenditure relating to Royalties for Regions 

programs and this is offset by increasing costs relating to ICT services and infrastructure costs.
(b)  Regional Policy – The increase in expenditure is due to a change in costing methodology as part of the 

Machinery of Government change and the Department split. 

Significant variances between actual results 2014 and 2013
As of the 1st of July 2013 the Department of Regional Development and Lands was 
re-designated as the Department of Regional Development and the new Department of Lands 
was established. As this is the first reporting period for the Department of Regional Development 
there are no comparative figures to disclose.

Note 34. Financial instruments 
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and 
cash equivalents, receivables and payables. The Department has limited exposure to financial 
risks. The Department’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks 
identified below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Department. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of 
recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance 
for impairment as shown in the table at note 34 (c) ‘Financial instrument disclosures’ and note 18 
‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is minimal because the main 
receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other 
than government, the Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. 
The Department has policies in place to ensure that services are made to customers with an 
appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis 
with the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the 
reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. 
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due. 

The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of 
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available 
to meet its commitments. 

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates will affect the Department’s income or value of its holdings of financial instruments. 
The Department does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other 
price risks. 

(b) Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:

2014
$000

Financial Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 31,056
Loans and receivables(a) 117
Amounts receivable for services 1,428
Lease prepayments 15,114

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 16,211
(a)  The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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(c) Financial instrument disclosures
Credit risk

The following table details the Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting 
period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on 
information provided to senior management of the Department.

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.

Ageing analysis of financial assets

Past due but not impaired
Impaired 
financial 

assets
Carrying 
Amount

Not past 
due and not 

impaired
Up to  

1 month
 1-3  

months
3 months 

-1 year
1-5 

years
More than  

5 years
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2014
Cash and cash equivalents - - - - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 31,056 31,056 - - - - - -
Receivables(a) 117 64 30 12 10 - - -
Amounts receivable for services 1,428 1,428 - - - - - -

32,601 32,548 30 12 10 - - -

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

The following table details the Department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes interest and 
principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item. 
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Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Interest rate exposure Maturity Dates

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate
Carrying 
Amount

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing

Nominal 
Amount

Up to 1 
month

1 - 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year 1 - 5 years

More than 
5 years

% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
2014
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - - - - - - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents - 31,056 - - 31,056 31,056 30,601 - - 455 -
Receivables (a) - 117 - - 117 117 117 - - - -
Amounts receivable 
for services - 1,428 - - 1,428 1,428 - - - - 1,428
Lease Prepayment 5.09 15,114 15,114 - - 15,114 202 403 1,814 9,673 3,023

47,715 15,114 - 32,601 47,715 30,920 403 1,814 10,128 4,451
Financial Liabilities
Payables - 815 - - 815 815 815 - - - -
Finance lease liabilities 6.28 15,396 15,396 - - 15,396 192 385 1,731 9,695 3,393

16,211 15,396 - 815 16,211 1,007 385 1,731 9,695 3,393

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
None of the Department’s financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are sensitive to movements in interest rates,  
hence movements in the interest rates have no bottom line impact on the Department’s surplus or equity. Annual Report 2013-14 113



Note 35. Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits 
and other benefits for the financial year fall within the following bands are: 

$ 2014
110,001 - 120,000 2
160,001 - 170,000 1
170,001 - 180,000 1
190,001 - 200,000 1
200,001 - 210,000 1
320,001 - 330,000 1

$000
Base remuneration and superannuation 1,182
Annual leave and long service leave accruals 34
Other benefits 78
Total remuneration of senior officers 1,294

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the  
Department in respect of senior officers.

Note 36. Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current 
financial year is as follows:

2014
$000

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 124

Note 37. Related bodies
The Department had no related bodies during the financial year 2013-14.

Note 38. Affiliated bodies
The Community Resource Centre Network is an affiliated body that received administrative 
support and grant funding of $11,572,000 from the Department. The Community Resource 
Centres are not subject to operational control by the Department.
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Note 39. Supplementary financial information
(a) Write-offs
During the financial year 2014, $5,302.76 was written off the Department’s asset register under 
the authority of:

2014
$000

The accountable authority -
The Minister 5

5

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
There have been no losses of public money and other property through theft or default.

(c) Gifts of public property
There have been no gifts of public property provided by the Department.
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Department Level Government Desired Outcomes and 
Key Performance Indicators
DRD is a vibrant agency with a clear agenda: to develop thriving towns and communities in regional Western Australia. 
The relationship between the desired outcomes of DRD and Government goals are outlined in the table below.

Government goals Department desired outcome Department services

Greater focus on service delivery, 
infrastructure investment and 
economic development to improve 
the overall quality of life in remote 
and regional areas.

Increased capacity of regional 
communities to develop economic 
growth and social wellbeing.

1. Regional Investment
2. Regional Policy

The desired outcome provides the Key Performance Indicators, which are used to measure the department’s effectiveness and 
efficiency in the delivery of our services.

Certification of Key 
Performance Indicators

Detailed key performance  
indicators information

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based 
on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting 
users to assess the Department of Regional Development’s 
performance, and fairly represent the performance of the 
Department for the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

A/Director General 
16 September 2014
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Desired Outcome:

Increased capacity of regional communities to 
develop economic growth and social wellbeing. 
Key to this desired outcome is for increased capacity 
in facilitating economic development and fostering of 
local decision-making. This is supported by a variety of 
departmental services aimed to encourage effective, efficient, 
sustainable and responsible economic development and local 
decision-making to realise regional community growth. 

The department provides a host of regional development 
services, including:

 � Administration of the Royalties for Regions program
 � Advice and support to the Regional Development 

Commissions, including the support in the development of 
the Regional Blueprints and secretariat support

 � Westlink Services
 � Community Development, including advice, funding and 

support to the Community Resource Centres.
 � Support in the development and initiation of new 

government initiatives including Seizing the Opportunities 
in Agriculture and Caravan and Camping Action Plan and 
WA Open for Business Initiative.

Effectiveness Indicator:

Client satisfaction with regional 
development services
To determine the effectiveness of the delivery of the 
department’s regional development services and programs, 
an independent survey was conducted gathering feedback 
from stakeholders selected from a cross section of agency 
contacts including the office of the current Minister, 
government departments, local government bodies, 
businesses, non-government organisations and regional 
community groups. 

The survey addressed the level of satisfaction with 
DRD’s performance in a range of community services, 
local infrastructure investment and large-scale strategic 
infrastructure, including Ord-East Kimberley Expansion 
Project, CRC Network and Westlink. 

297 surveys were completed from 370 valid stakeholders, 
giving a high response rate of 80 per cent, with a maximum 
standard error ratio of +/- 2.5 per cent at the 95 per cent 
confidence level. These results exceed the Office of 
the Auditor General (OAG) minimum requirements of 
a 50 per cent response rate and +/-5 per cent at the 
95 per cent confidence level.

Key Effectiveness Indicators
2013-14 
Actual

2013-14 
Target

2012-13 
Actual

2011-12 
Actual Reasons for significant variance

Client satisfaction with regional 
development services

90% 85% 95% 92% The 2013-14 results continue to exceed 
the targeted stakeholder satisfaction rate. 
Average ratings while down slightly on last 
year are well within the satisfied range.

Annual Report 2013-14 117



Efficiency Indicators:

Service 1: Regional Investment
This service empowers regional communities to identify their 
priorities, needs and solutions, and invest Royalties for Regions 
resources to improve the quality of life in regional Western 
Australia. We do this by creating new opportunities through 
funding initiatives that build infrastructure, facilitate economic 
development and business opportunities, improve community 
services, increase skills and capability, and grow regional 
communities.

Regional Investment recognises State Government investment 
in the development of regional Western Australia which 
fosters local decision making and increases the capacity of 
regional communities to develop both economic growth and 
social wellbeing. This promotes increased sustainability and 
a sense of community, resulting in a remote and regional 
Western Australia where people choose to work, stay, live 
and raise a family. 

Our efficiency indicators gauge the cost of providing these 
services based on measurable units of quantity, including 
a cost per funded initiative and per satellite site supported. 
The Department’s efficiency indicators have been realigned 
as a result of the Machinery of Government changes that 
resulted in the demerger of the former Department of Regional 
Development and Lands as two separate agencies; Department 
of Regional Development and Department of Lands.

Key Efficiency Indicators
2013-14 
Actual

2013-14 
Target(a)

2012-13 
Actual

2011-12 
Actual Reasons for significant variance

Average cost per funded Initiative 
administered

$24,456 $18,942 $20,121 $16,565 The increase from 2012-13 to 2013-14 
is due to a decrease in the number of 
initiatives administered as a result of 
projects that have been acquitted in 
this financial year. Furthermore there 
was a decrease in the number of new 
agreements entered into during 2013-14. 
These have increased the average cost per 
funded initiative administered.

Average internal cost per satellite 
site supported

$4,535 $5,961 $6,141 $3,269 The decrease from 2012-13 to 2013-14 
is due to an increase in the number of 
satellite services supported in 2013-14, 
reducing the average cost per satellite 
supported. The variance between the 
2013-14 target and actuals was due to the 
higher number of satellite sites supported 
than anticipated.

(a) 2013-14 Target are as per the estimated actuals disclosed in the most recent budget paper.
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Service 2: Regional policy
This service focuses on delivering effective government 
policy to support regional development and service delivery, 
including modernising legislation. Regional policy business 
operates across the department and in collaboration with State 
and Federal government and other organisations to enhance 
planning and service delivery in Western Australia and other 
regions in Australia. Regional policy business addresses the 
challenges and opportunities of living, working and doing 
business in the regions and we provide key advice to the 
Minister and the Government on how to deliver this.

The Department’s efficiency indicators have been realigned 
as a result of the Machinery of Government changes that 
resulted in the demerger of the former Department of Regional 
Development and Lands as two separate agencies; Department 
of Regional Development and Department of Lands. Average 
cost is calculated by the internal costs incurred by the areas 
responsible for regional policy and divided by the tracked 
number of written advice requiring Minister’s attention.

Key Efficiency Indicator
2013-14 
Actual

2013-14 
Target(a)

2012-13 
Actual

2011-12 
Actual(b) Reasons for significant variance

Average cost per item of written 
advice requiring Minister’s 
attention

$5,700 $3,583 $2,902 $1,808 The increase from 2012-13 to 2013-14 
is due to a reduction in items of written 
advice requiring Minister’s attention in 
2013-14, as well as a change in costing 
methodology, increasing the average cost 
per item. 

The variance between the 2013-14 target 
and actuals was due to lower number of 
items requiring Minister’s attention than 
anticipated.

(a) 2013-14 Target are as per the estimated actuals disclosed in the most recent budget paper. 
(b) 2011-12 Actual has been restated for comparability due to a change in the number of written advice requiring Ministers attention.
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Ministerial directives

Pricing policies of services provided
The Department charges for goods and services rendered on 
a full or partial cost recovery basis. These fees and charges 
were determined in accordance with the Costing and Pricing 
Government Services: Guidelines for use by Agencies in the 
Western Australian Public Sector published by Treasury.

Capital Works

Capital project incomplete
The Department has commenced on the transitioning out of 
the Department of Transport IT environment and involves the 
implementation of the Department of Regional Development’s 
own ICT infrastructure and systems to support both the 
Department of Regional Development and Department 
of Lands. The estimated total cost of the project is $2.3 million 
and this is anticipated to be completed in the first quarter 
of 2014-15.

Capital projects completed
No capital projects were completed during 2013-14.

Other financial disclosures 

No Ministerial directives were received during the 
financial year.
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Employment and industrial relations

Staff profile 
2013-14  

Headcount
2013-14 Actual FTE  

(approved FTE of 154)
Permanent full-time 104  101.95
Permanent part-time 19  12.87
Temporary full-time 25  25
Temporary part-time 2  0.90
Total 150  140.71

As at 30 June 2014, the department is operating within its 
FTE cap of 154.

During 2013-14, the department’s staffing numbers remained 
stable, with typical levels of recruitment activity undertaken to 
accommodate for natural attrition rates. 

Youth Employment 
In 2013-14, DRD continued to participate in the joint graduate 
program, hosted by the Department of Mines and Petroleum. 
This joint initiative is one of the department’s strategies that 
support youth employment. Following successful recruitment 
to the graduate program, the departments involved 
host graduates and provide them with meaningful work 
placements. One graduate was permanently appointed to the 
department in January 2014 and one graduate was recruited 
to the program early in 2014. 

The department participated in the Public Sector Traineeship 
program by offering traineeships to young people under 
the age of 25, as well as participating in the school-based 
traineeship program. The school-based traineeship program 
offers on the job work experience for two days a week over an 
eighteen month period. In 2013-14, the department offered 
two full time traineeships to successful graduates of the 
2013-13 school based traineeship program. The department 
has also further recruited one school based trainee in 2014. 
The department’s youth employment strategy will enable DRD 
to grow diversity in the workplace.

Ongoing graduate recruitment will occur in late 2014 along 
with the continuation of the school-based traineeship and 
traineeship program. 

Strategic Workforce Plan
The department has developed a strategic workforce plan for 
2012-15. The plan has been developed to ensure we have a 
vibrant, talented, engaged and skilled workforce supported by 
a positive corporate culture and management practices that 
will attract and retain staff. 

By achieving the outcomes highlighted in the plan we will 
be well placed to meet the current and future workforce 
challenges facing the public sector. Our Strategic Workforce 
Plan will ensure that we have a capable and effective 
workforce that supports the achievement of our strategic 
priorities.

Employee Opinion Survey
The results from the Employee Opinion Survey 2013 indicated 
that the department has a committed and engaged workforce. 
Training and development forums across the department 
have been conducted to determine the leadership aspirations 
of staff. This information will support the development of a 
leadership program for the department’s future requirements. 
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The DRD Way
‘The DRD Way’ is the department’s values statement, developed 
by staff who have also contributed many ideas about the type 
of workplace they would like DRD to be.

The DRD Way has been incorporated into organisational 
strategies including the Code of Conduct, Work and 
Development Plans, job description forms, recruitment 
practices and the department’s Strategic Workforce Plan. 
The DRD Way is reinforced through the department’s 
corporate induction. Staff continue to be recognised for 
“living the values” at executive and staff meetings.

DRD is committed to the ideals behind the values statement 
and ensuring that we conduct ourselves and our daily 
operations in The DRD Way.

Cultural Awareness training
DRD continues to successfully deliver ‘Cultural Awareness 
Training’ sessions to its staff to:

 � Cultivate an understanding of the diversity of Aboriginal 
peoples’ and their culture.

 � Improve communication processes when engaging with 
Aboriginal peoples and communities.

 � Encourage community development principles that 
ensure long-term outcomes.

Welcome to Country Policy
DRD recognises the importance of ‘Welcome to Country’ 
ceremonies, to acknowledge Traditional owners, their culture 
and country as the first Australians. DRD continues to strongly 
support the implementation and observance of its ‘Welcome to 
Country’ policy when organising and coordinating ‘Welcome to 
Country’ or ‘Acknowledgement’ ceremonies. 
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Contracts with senior officers
At the date of reporting, no senior officers, or firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts 
with the Department of Regional Development other than normal contracts of employment of service.

Board and committee remuneration

Regional Development Council 
Position Name Type of remuneration Period of membership Gross remuneration
A/Chair Murray Criddle Annual 22 Mar 2013 – 31 Dec 2014 $ 27,400.89

Total: $ 27,400.89
Rural, Remote and Regional Women’s Network WA
Position Name Type of remuneration Period of membership Gross remuneration
Chair Leonie Noble Annual 1 Apr 2014 – 31 Dec 2014 $ 1,975.00
Deputy Chair Paula Bray Annual 1 Jan 2010 – 31 Dec 2015 $ 0
Board Member Michelle Barrett Annual 1 Jan 2012 – 31 Dec 2014 $ 1085.00

Margaret Bertling Annual 1 Jan 2011 – 31 Dec 2013 $ 585.00
Jo Fulwood Annual 1 Jan 2012 – 31 Dec 2014 $ 1335.00
Jackie Jarvis Annual 1 Jan 2013 – 31 Dec 2015 $ 1335.00
Lola Jones Annual 1 Jan 2011 – 31 Dec 2013 $ 0
Renee Manning Annual 1 Jan 2013 – 31 Dec 2015 $ 1420.00
Jodie Mortadza Annual 1 Jan 2012 – 31 Dec 2014 $ 710.00
Janine Phillips Annual 1 Jan 2012 – 31 Dec 2014 $ 1420.00
Sally Thomson Annual 1 Jan 2010 – 31 Dec 2013 $ 585.00
Monica Treasure Annual 1 Jan 2013 – 31 Dec 2015 $ 1420.00

Total: $ 11,870.00

Governance disclosures
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Advertising
In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907 the Department is required to report expenditure incurred during the financial year in relation to advertising agencies, market research 
organisations, polling organisations, direct mail organisations and media advertising organisations. The details of the Department’s expenditure in these areas are as follows: 

Type Supplier $

Advertising agency services 

Market research organisations IPSOS Australia 68,805

Polling agencies -

Direct Mail Quickmail 2,401

Media advertising organisations Adcorp Australia Limited 10,537

Total : $81,743 

Other legal requirements
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
DRD is committed to the access and inclusion of people with 
disability, and aims to continually improve its services, facilities 
and information for people with disability, their families and 
their carers by developing and implementing a new DRD 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP).

The DAIP highlights the department’s commitment to:

 � Ensuring that people with disability are given the 
opportunity to participate in shaping the development of 
regional WA through the department’s existing community 
consultation processes

 � Developing feedback mechanisms to ensure barriers to 
access and inclusion are addressed

 � Ensuring all staff, agents and contractors work towards 
the desired access and inclusion outcomes in the DAIP

 � Achieving the seven desired outcomes as defined in 
the Act.

DRD has committed to have its new DIAP in place for 
November 2014 which will include a set of strategies and 
initiatives to guide the department’s efforts to achieve the 
desired outcomes as it continues to improve and promote 
access and inclusion to services, facilities and information.

The seven desired outcomes are:

Outcome 1: People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the services of, 
and any events organised by DRD

Outcome 2: People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the department’s 
buildings and other facilities

Outcome 3: People with disability receive information 
from DRD in a format that will enable them to access the 
information as readily as other people

Outcome 4: People with disability receive the same level and 
quality of service from the staff of DRD as other people receive

Outcome 5: People with disability have the same 
opportunities as others to make complaints to DRD

Outcome 6: People with disability have the same 
opportunities as others to participate in any public 
consultation by DRD

Outcome 7: People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to obtain and maintain 
employment within the department 

DRD delivered the following strategies during 2013-14:

 � Improved DRD website in line with Level AA of the Web 
Content Accessibility Guidelines version 2.0 (WCAG 
2.0) – a Commonwealth government standard, ensuring 
information and services are provided to the public in a 
non-discriminatory accessible manner

 � Continued to moved away from print only format for DRD’s 
publications to ensure that, when requested, they are 
available in alternative formats

 � Continued to provide word document transcripts of video 
resources published on the DRD website

 � Continued to raise awareness of disability access issues 
by ensuring DRD management are trained in OSH and 
accessibility requirements and staff are informed through 
corporate induction programs

 � Ensured that DRD only occupies offices that are accessible 
to people with disabilities and fire wardens are trained in 
evacuation procedures for people with disabilities.

DRD will meet our reporting obligation under the Act, 
including annual progress reports to the Disability Services 
Commission. 
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Statement of Compliance with 
Public Sector Standards and 
Code of Ethics
(Public Sector Management Act 1994, S31 (1))

DRD is committed to ensuring the highest standards of probity 
and accountability in all our interactions with our customers, 
community and colleagues.

The department has a comprehensive Code of Conduct which 
is widely distributed, publicised and applied in accordance 
with the Public Sector Commissioner’s Conduct Guide and 
Code of Ethics. The department reviewed its code of conduct 
in 2013-14 incorporating recent Commissioner’s Instructions, 
ensuring compliance and currency.

The department is also committed to the requirement that all 
public sector employees participate in Accountable and Ethical 
Decision Making Workshops. As of 30 June 2014, 90 per cent 
of targeted staff had met this requirement. Ongoing training 
sessions are scheduled for 2014, to ensure that employees 
new to the department and those yet to complete the 
training, do so.

New staff members are required to undertake a corporate 
induction to ensure they are aware of their rights and 
responsibilities as public sector employees.

The department has a Conflict of Interest policy and procedure 
to ensure potential conflicts of interest are considered within 
an ethical framework and managed accordingly. This policy 
was also reviewed recently to ensure further compliance with 
public sector requirements and direction from the Crime and 
Corruption Commission.

DRD’s human resource management practices and policies 
are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure the legislative 
and governance responsibilities are met in regards to 
managing people.

The department’s Work and Development Plan program 
has been reviewed and updated and encourages open 
and honest discussion between managers and employees 
not only regarding outcomes, but acceptable and ethical 
workplace behaviour.

In 2013-14 the department continued to provide timely and 
efficient transactional corporate services to the nine Regional 
Development Commissions and the Department of Lands.

For the period from 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014 there were no 
requests for review under Public Sector Standards in Human 
Resource Management.

There was one formal grievance lodged and finalised during 
2013-14.

 

Record Keeping Plan
Department of Regional Development (DRD) is committed 
to meeting the requirements of the State Records Act 2000 
through the creation and implementation of an appropriate 
record keeping plan that details policies, practices and 
standards adopted by DRD. In March 2014, the State Records 
Commission approved the amended recordkeeping plan which 
covers both DRD and Department of Lands (DoL). 

SRC Standard 2 – Record Keeping Plans; 
Principle 6 – Compliance
Requirement 1: The efficiency and effectiveness 
of the organisation’s record keeping systems is 
evaluated not less than once every five years

The Department of Regional Development (DRD) and the 
Department of Lands (DoL) were established on 1 July 2013. 
The two departments were created following the Machinery 
of Government announcement made on 10 April 2013 which 
included the re-designation of the Department of Regional 
Development and the creation of a new Department of Lands.

Resulting from the departmental separation and several 
data migrations within records management changes and 
enhancements to practices across multiple organisations 
have been reviewed and updated.
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In late 2013 the department initiated an independent review 
of file and document management within DRD (which also 
encompassed the Department of Lands). This was completed 
in February 2014.

During the fiscal year, DRD increased its electronic document 
creation by 31% and file creation by 13%: 61% of the total 
files created are virtual. These figures clearly show that DRD 
still maintains a strong commitment towards full electronic 
document management and virtual collaboration using 
the eDRMS. 

Requirement 2: The organisation conducts a record 
keeping training program

DRD is committed to records management training for all staff. 
A comprehensive training program was designed to ensure 
staff understand and fulfil their record keeping responsibilities, 
as well as gain the necessary skills to create and manage 
electronic documents in the eDRMS, including version control, 
auditing tasks, collaboration and document approvals.

During the financial year, the in-house program, delivered 
by Information Services Branch, offered over 75 hours of 
training. The number of training hours provided was reduced 
from previous years as a result of major projects. The topic-
based training program is structured into four, one-hour 
sessions covering key topics including an overview of the 
eDRMS structure, its ability to enhance electronic document 

collaboration, searching skills, working with various types 
of electronic documents and managing emails. Fifty five per 
cent of staff completed the entire four-module program, 
while 85% of departmental staff participated in at least one 
training session.

Requirement 3: The efficiency and effectiveness of 
the record keeping training program is reviewed from 
time to time

The training program is continually refined to ensure it meets 
the needs of the audience and it is often tailored for different 
business units. The Information Services Branch monitors 
eDRMS activity and provides ongoing, customised support to 
each organisational division. The effectiveness of the program 
is measured by analysing the uptake of the eDRMS and the 
lessening reliance on non-approved record keeping tools, 
such as network drives.

Requirement 4: The organisation’s induction program 
addresses employee roles and responsibilities in 
regard to their compliance with the organisation’s 
record keeping plan

The department’s induction program contains a component 
of information services, including records management. 
During the induction, staff learn about record keeping 
responsibilities expected of government employees, 
contractors and board members.

Additionally, the Information Services Branch delivers 
one-hour records-specific induction sessions which cover a 
number of topics, including information about the Act, the 
record keeping plan itself, departmental policies, procedures 
and practices, as well as State Records Office standards 
and principles which underpin our departmental record 
keeping activities.
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Substantive equality
The Department of Regional Development is committed 
to facilitating the development of sustainable regional 
communities that build and deliver opportunities, facilities 
and services appropriate to their communities. Following the 
demerger, the department has established a new Substantive 
Equality Committee under a new Chair – Executive Director 
Policy and Planning, Mike Rowe. The committee has 
met twice in 2014 and held an information session with 
a representative of the Office of the Equal Opportunity 
Commissioner, to improve its understanding of the history of 
substantive equality and potential application of contemporary 
guidelines and approaches.

The committee plans to recommend implementing substantive 
equality into the DRD induction programs. The group is 
also working with each division to finalise and implement 
a substantive equality policy statement, ensuring the 
department’s information and services can reach people 
in regional Western Australia, regardless of factors such as 
remoteness and language barriers.

All DRD advertised positions continue to state: 

“The Department of Regional Development 
promotes workplace flexibility and diversity, 
seeking to include and value the contributions 
of all people. We strongly encourage people 
from regional areas, Aboriginal Australians and 
Torres Strait Islanders, people with disabilities 
and people from culturally and diverse 
backgrounds to apply.”

Government policy requirements
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Statement of Agency commitment 
to OSH and injury management
DRD is committed to ensuring that its operational activities are 
carried out with full regard for the health, safety and welfare 
of employees, contractors and the public. The department’s 
executive support this commitment through participation in 
relevant training programs, communication of OSH matters 
on the departments intranet and reporting through Corporate 
Executive on relevant matters. 

The department has an OSH Committee who meets quarterly 
to discuss any matters that are identified or referred through 
health and safety representatives. Regular workplace 
inspections have been implemented, and action is taken 
through the Committee to address any identified matters.

DRD ensures compliance with the injury management 
requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981 through a systematic approach to injury 
management that combines expert assistance from external 
providers with the support of the department’s supervisors and 
human resource staff. Relevant policies, processes and systems 
are outlined on DRD’s intranet.

The department has undertaken a review of the existing 
systems and policies and monitors this on a regular basis 
through the OSH Committee. There are appropriate systems 
in place, which include return to work strategies.

Formal mechanism for consultation 
with employees on OSH matters
DRD’s OSH Committee ensures mechanisms for employee 
consultation are in place. OSH representatives and the 
Committee are identified as the two main sources by which the 
consultative process on OSH matters in the workplace will be 
supported.

The OSH Committee facilitates consultation and cooperation 
between the employer and employees, and is responsible for:

 � Making recommendations and providing assistance in 
the development of strategies to ensure the effective 
management of OSH

 � Monitoring and reviewing OSH measures (including 
inspections)

 � Assisting in the resolution of OSH issues that arise in the 
workplace

 � Obtaining information and consulting with the employer 
about proposed changes that may affect OSH

 � Identifying training needs for employees/volunteers and 
supervisors/managers

 � Considering matters referred 
 � Undertaking other functions assigned by legislation.

Assessment of OSH 
management systems
The HR and OSH Consultant, in consultation with OSH 
representatives, ensures regular audits are undertaken to assess 
the effectiveness of OSH management systems.

These audits take into account several factors to determine 
the level of associated risks to the organisation’s operations, 
the effectiveness of the existing systems, their capability to 
achieve established objectives, and the consequences to the 
department.

Occupational Safety, Health (OSH) and Injury Management
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OSH and injury management performance

Actual Results

Measure 2012-13 2013-14 Target

Number of Fatalities 0 0 0

Lost time injury/disease (LTI/D) incident rate 2 0 0 or 10% improvement on the previous three years

Lost time injury severity rate 0 0 0 or 10% improvement on the previous three years reduction

Percentage of injured workers returned to work within

(i) 13 weeks
(ii) 26 weeks

100%

100%

100%

100% Greater than or equal to 80% return to work within 26 weeks

Percentage of managers and supervisors trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury management responsibilities 95% 95% Greater than or equal to 80%

DRD identified an increased level of compliance of managers and supervisors trained in OSH and injury management, and continued ongoing training.
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Perth
Level 2, Gordon Stephenson House 
140 William Street  
PERTH WA 6000

Postal Address: 
PO Box 1143 
WEST PERTH WA 6872

Telephone: (08) 6552 1800 
Facsimile: (08) 6552 1850 
Free call: 1800 049 155 (Country only) 
Email: info@drd.wa.gov.au 
Website: www.drd.wa.gov.au 
Royalties for Regions web: 
www.RoyaltiesforRegions.wa.gov.au

Kununurra
Corner Messmate Way and Bandicoot Drive 
KUNUNURRA WA 6743

Postal Address: 
PO Box 630 
KUNUNURRA WA 6743

Telephone: (08) 9168 0601 
Facsimile: (08) 9168 2687 
Email: ordexpansion@drd.wa.gov.au 
Website: www.RoyaltiesforRegions.wa.gov.au/ord

Rural, Remote and Regional 
Women’s Network WA
Level 2, Gordon Stephenson House 
140 William Street  
PERTH WA 6000

Postal Address: 
PO Box 1143 
WEST PERTH WA 6872

Telephone: (08) 6552 1800 
Facsimile: (08) 6552 1850 
Free call: 1800 049 155 (Country only) 
Email: rrr.network@drd.wa.gov.au 
Website: www.rrr.wa.gov.au

Regional Development Council
Level 2, 9 Havelock Street 
WEST PERTH WA 6005

Postal Address: 
PO Box 1143 
WEST PERTH WA 6872

Telephone: (08) 9327 5600 
Facsimile: (08) 9322 5332 
Email: info@drd.wa.gov.au

Western Australian Regional 
Development Trust
Level 2, Gordon Stephenson House  
140 William Street 
PERTH WA 6000

Postal Address: 
PO Box 1143 
WEST PERTH WA 6872

Telephone: (08) 6552 1875 
Facsimile: (08) 6552 4417 
Free call: 1800 049 155 (Country only) 
Email: info@drd.wa.gov.au  
Website: www.wardt.wa.gov.au

 

Contact details
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Department of Regional Development 
Visit: www.drd.wa.gov.au 
Email: info@drd.wa.gov.au 
Telephone: 08 6552 1800 
Country calls, free call: 1800 049 155

Street address: 
Level 2, Gordon Stephenson House 
140 William Street 
PERTH WA 6000
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